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Covad’s critical ingredients

What does it take to succeed in the business of broadband?

No one knows the answer to that question better than Covad. We were

the first to commercially deploy DSL in the United States, we own and
=h

<

operate the largest naticnal DSL network and we’ve just come throu
a year of dramatic improvement in our financial performance.

So, what does it take to succeed in broadband? It’s not just one thir

one persen or gne asset, it’s a mix of critical ingredients that no o

else in our industry can claim. Each of these core strengths works with

the others to give us flexibility and endurance.

National Network, Best Partners, Smart Systems,

Products People Want, Brcadband Expertise

8
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CRITICAL INGREDIENTS

ational network

The broadest reach with one reliable network

Our network provides cur partners and our direct sales channel
with an integrated point for national reach. Instead of juggling
multiple regional network relationships, our partners value
the simplicity of one seamless source for their connectivity.
Enterprise customers count on Covad to connect their distributed
locations through the same national infrastructure.

The Covad network is also an engine of future value, with
capacity to serve up to four million subscribers and adapt to
new products such as Voice over internet Protocol (VolP).

Another advantage of our network is reliability. Covad engineers
monitor the entire system, end-to-end, on a 24/7 basis. As
a facilities-based company, we have the resources to design
and maintain the network for long-term performance. It’s no
coincidence that our reliability is consistently 99.99%.
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Looking ahead

2004 will be a year of strategic
network growth. We plan to add
approximately 200 central offices,
which will give us access to

4.2 million additional homes and
businesses. We will let demand
drive expansion and will only add
capacity where there is potential
new business.

We will also launch our VolP
service and are actively exploring
our options on alternative
technologies for our “last-mile”
access to customers.

Key metrics?

MSAs (metropolitan

statistical areas): 96
COs (central offices): - 1,819
Homes and businesses

passed: 45 million
Reliability: 99.99%
Total lines: 517,000

1 As of December 31, 2003




of Covad; yow've got to understand the deep iroots we've
based broadband provider. The physical inffastructiire we
d' to-accommodate future growthand support new products




CRITICAL INGREDIENTS

The best partners

Supplier of choice for the big names in telecommunications

* Major telecommunications co'm'pa'nies'pértner with Covad to

provide broadband service for their customers. ACN, AT&T,
America Online, Broadwing, EarthlLink, Global Crossing, MCI,
MegaPath, SBC, Speakeasy, Sprint, VarTec, X0 Communications
and Z-Tel all rely on us to be their independent ally, allowing
them to offer competitively priced broadband services to
compete with local phone and cable providers.

These partnerships extend our market reach for greater line
growth while limiting the amount of cash we spend on marketing
programs. We benefit from our partners’ powerful brands and
marketing programs and they benefit from the simplicity of
one national broadband DSL supplier that understands their
needs and the economics of the data business.

In 2003, we added a new dimension to our partnerships with line-
splitting arrangements and new products for larger business
users, including Frame Relay - an economic broadband solution
for enterprises that need to connect multiple locations.
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Looking ahead

2004 will see us adding to and
deepening these-partnerships.
Working in collaboration with
our partners, we will explore
and introduce new products
and services, new bundling
options and continuous
improvements in customer
provisioning and service.

Key metrics?

Wholesale channel:

% of lines 86%

% of revenue 77%

2003 subscribers 445,000 lines
(31% annual growth)

Lines by segment:
consumer 65%
business 35%

2 As of December 31, 2003







CRITICAL INGREDIENTS

Smart systems

Fast, cost-effective and award-winning user friendliness

For our partners and end-users, we make it easy to install, use
and service Covad’s connectivity and communications products
with no-touch provisioning, automated order management and
award-winning self-installation.

Smart systems are a critical ingredient in our success because
they provide superior customer service for our resellers, direct
customers and end-users, and lower our costs for installation
and service. We've built features into our systems that allow
most of our orders to be filled through a convenient, touchless
process that is fast and effective.

Residentiat and SOHO customers like the quick self-installation,
and for our larger enterprise customers, Covad’s Enhanced

Services Group (ESG) delivers performance and responsiveness

comparable to the large interexchange carriers. For all of our
customers, smart billing and account management make it easy
to do business with Covad every day.
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Looking ahead

We will continue to build systems
to improve our processes,
customer service and automation.
Our seamless Electronic Data
Interchange (EDI) with our partners
and our new ESG capability are
examples of the constant stream
of innovations and performance
improvements behind our

smart systems.

Key metrics

Streamlined system: more than
66% of our ADSL orders are
touchless

Front-line capacity: over 270
service vehicles in the field




- Award-winning service

. Ourselfsinstatbkiy. - 0
" won the prastigiolis . 17"
2003 CNET Editor!s
hoice-Award;~ =

~“From lucid instruc-

tions to hand-holding
software to-a smartly

- designed:support site
to arange of affordable
service plans, Covad
wins an Editors’ Choice

without breakinga

 sweat”3 . - e

. T3CNET Review 2003




CRITICAL INGREDIENTS

Proaucts

Improving the user experience and broadening our revenue base

We have always viewed our business as more than just
the connectivity pipeline. Creating and offering products
and services that meet customer needs is a vital ingredient
in our strategy because it helps users get more from their
broadband connection. How do we know what customers want?
We are good listeners and we work closely with our partners to
understand the priorities of the residential, small business and
enterprise user. Covad is continually developing and testing
new products in our direct sales channel, which at the end of
2003 represented approximately 25% of our revenue.

Our suite of broadband solutions, including a range of speed
options, is a critical ingredient in our success because it
enhances and diversifies revenue and helps to retain cus-
tomers. The innovation and insight we bring to our products
help to differentiate us from other connectivity providers.
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Looking ahead

The next major product on the
horizon for Covad is VolP.
Customers, from home users to
large enterprises, can use VolP to
get more out of their broadband
connection by reducing costs
through the integration of voice
and data services. In the second
half of 2004, we will be ready to
offer a business-class VolIP service
as part of our wholesale bundle
and a basic VolP service for
direct sales to businesses.

Key metrics

Our Diverse Product Portfolio:

e DSL and T1 connectivity
o Security firewall, anti-virus
and SPAM protection
o Email and Web hosting
e Virtual private networks
o Online account management
o Enterprise and Frame Relay DSL




BROADBAND .- - :
SUBSERIPTION BILLINGS

Subscnptuon Billings-to- Revenue please
— referto pagei8. .. L

- Performance where
it:counts..

gh per»forrh-ing
- businesses succeed
"because they attrdct the
‘best customersand
satisfy even the highest-
expectations; Thaf’s
“true whether you'e
g state-of- thee~art
racing bikes or Intunet
“co ectlwty, secuulty




CRITICAL INGREDIENTS

roadband expertise

We're the experts in how it’s delivered, how it’s sold and how it’s used

Since 1997, we have been dedicated exclusively to broadband.
Our know-how touches every aspect of our business:
engineering, sales, service, marketing, and research and
development.

Cur expertise matters to our partners because they know they
can rely cn us for operational excellence as well as support
with marketing, sales and customer retention. Qur expertise
matters to our business customers because they can count
on their broadband connection and on Covad to bring them new
products and services that anticipate their needs. Broadband
expertise matters because to succeed we've got to keep
ahead of the curve, not just in the technology, but in every-
thing from the regulatory environment to the behavior of the
end user. As a broadband company, this is something we've
always understood.
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Looking ahead

Covad is always looking ahead
and planning for the future with
strategic clarity. We believe that
broadband penetration will
continue to grow, that users will
continue to demand more from
their broadband connection

and that the promise of bundling
- multiple products, one bill,

one price - will take root. With
our network expansion, VolP
introduction and research of last-
mile alternatives, we're ready for
whatever the future brings.

Key metrics

How do you measure expertise?
It's in the growth of our business,
the partners who come to us for
answers and the new products
we develop. It’s in our fleet of
trucks and service staff, and it’s in
the recognition that we receive
for our operational excellence.
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Broadband works%ha‘r‘d '
for small business

In a recent survey of
479 small businesises,
commissioned by Covad
and Sprint, 65% of
respondents repojted
using broadband,‘and
“half of those stilt on
" dial-up are considejing an
upgrade to broadband.’

‘5"Equation Research Slijrvey of
Smialt Business, Decenjber 2003.




To our sharenolders

For Covad, 2003 was a year of breakthroughs.
First and foremost, we broke through into posi-
tive EBITDA territory in the fourth quarter, one
quarter ahead of plan, and reduced our net loss
by 46 percent. We moved past the benchmark
of one-half million subscriber lines with 36
percent line growth in the year and we secured
our position as the broadband supplier of
choice for many of the top telecommunications
companies in the United States. It was also a
breakthrough year for broadband penetration
as U.S. adoption cleared 20 percent - often
cited as the turning point for new technologies.
We even turned the FCC decision on phasing
out line-sharing into a breakthrough opportu-
nity by preparing our network for line-splitting
and forming new marketing relationships that
put us in a strong position for growth.

Through all of this, we remained true to our core
values of financial discipline and network
strength, with continued overhead cost reduc-
tion and maintenance of our network reliability
rate of 99.99%.
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In a year marked by change, we've proven
that our strategy works. We’ve proven that we
have the flexibility to handle the inevitable
shifts that characterize our industry, and we
have demonstrated that even though broad-
band is always changing, Covad continues to
be in the game — stronger than ever.

Highlights of 2003: Performance
under pressure

In 2003, we continued to build the core
strengths that differentiate us from the compe-
tition and are critical to offering the best broad-
band experience. These ingredients include our
national netwark, our unparalleled strategic
partnerships, our broadband expertise and
our relentless focus on improving our own
operations and the customer experience.
These critical ingredients combined to deliver
solid financial performance in 2003.




Healthy revenues and financial discipline in
2003 made us EBITDA positive in the fourth
quarter for the first time since inception.
Achieving EBITDA profitability one quarter
ahead of plan is a testament to the fundamen-
tal strength of Covad and the resourcefulness
and energy of our employees. More specifically
| would like to highlight some key achieve-
ments that made this success possible.

We continued to make strategic partnerships
a priority and successfully increased both the
number and depth of these relationships, adding
ACN, Broadwing, Global Crossing, VarTec and
Z-Tel as new partners, and expanding our
wholesale offering to include Frame Relay and
line-splitting. We simultaneously grew our
direct sales business, which delivers strong
margins and a platform for new product roll-
outs such as Web hosting, T1 and our next
product, VolP.

The successful migration of approximately
16,000 Qwest customers to Covad in mid-year
gave us a healthy boost to our direct line count
at a very attractive cost-of-acquisition. Our
direct business keeps us in close contact with
small business users, which we see as central
to maintaining our status as the experts in
broadband.

In the latter part of the year we established
new reselling relationships to take us from
line-sharing with the ILECs to line-splitting and
product bundling with the competitive voice
. carriers — an enormous task made possible by
everyone from our software developers to our
network operators, account teams and legal
teams. When we say we have broadband
expertise, this is the kind of capability we are
referring to - to handle immense regulatory
and operational complexity under pressure.
This transition has put us in a great position
for profitable growth in 2004 and beyond.

Always in the background, making our perform-
ance possible, is our strict financial discipline
and control over operating and capital
expenditures. We spend where it counts and
save where we can and our financial results
reflect this. Lower year-over-year network and
product costs have improved our gross margins
for the year and we were able to leverage qur
fixed-cost base to limit capital expenditurei‘

Covad has come a long way in a short timé -
from a small player with a good idea, to a
national provider with strong prospects. We
want our investors, partners and customers
to understand why Covad is succeeding and
why our fundamentals — our critical ingredients
- will continue to be the basis for our success.
To this end, we launched a high-profile nationat
campaign with advertisements in The Wall
Street Journal and Business Week to increase
awareness of our solid performance, unique
assets and great partners.

EBITDA CALCULATION 2003

Q1 Q2 Q3 Qs
5.0

(5.0)

(10.0)

(15.0) | —

{z0.0)
(in millions)

NOTE - For a reconciliation of EBITDA
to Net Loss, please refer to page i8.
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in summary, we stayed focused on our strategy,
adapted to the realities of the business and
delivered solid results. These are achievements
we can all be proud of and | offer my thanks to
our employees for their commitment and to
our Board of Directors for their guidance in this
breakthrough year.

Qutlook for 2004: Managed growth

The critical ingredients that helped us prosper
in 2003 will be hard at work for us again in
2004 and beyond. We will grow our network
footprint by more than 10 percent in response
to market and partner demand. We will add
depth to our facilities with increased frame
access and T1 availability in- more of our central
offices. We will also expand our services for
large enterprises, including Frame Relay, and
work closely with our partners to create new
bundles that will meet the demand for voice
and data on one bill.

We will launch VolP to the small business
segment in 2004. VolP represents a major
opportunity for Covad to grow our revenues
and expand our service offerings as a natural
extension of Covad’s existing infrastructure.
From our national last-mile broadband network
to our automated provisioning, support and
billing, we will leverage our critical ingredients
to become a leading turnkey VolP solution
provider in the United States.

The Covad style of intelligent strategic choices
and great execution will deliver another year
of strong financial performance.

A bit further out on the horizon is the possibility
of launching a Covad “last-mile” alternative,
in which we provide the connection with the
end customer. To this end, we are well into a
program of technical feasibility and financial
assessment of what would most likely be a
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wireless solution to carry our broadband con-
nection to the end user, reducing our depend-
ence on others for customer access. As a
facilities-based company, we believe we have
the infrastructure and the expertise to go the
last mile, giving us a new level of control over
our future.

Covad has matured into a company that defies
categorization. Are we a technology company
with a service mindset or a service company
with deep technology roots? We're both, and
it's our critical ingredients that make us that
way. We've been building these strengths
since our earliest days and now they're the key
to prospering in 2003, innovating in 2004 and
winning in broadband, wherever it's headed.

A

CHARLES HOFFMAN

PRESIDENT AND CEOQO
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Reconciliation and Footnotes (Unaudited)
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Gross Margin (NOTE 1) 2001 2002 2003
Revenues, net $ 332,596 $ 383,496 § 388,851
less: Network and Product Costs 461,875 298,336 283,401
Gross Margin 3 {129,279) $ 85,160 $ 105,450
% of Revenue (39%) 22% 27%
Consolidated Revenue Data 2001 2002 2003
Broadband subscription billings (NoTE 3) 245,735 264,975 316,015
High-capacity circuit billings 36,671 27,437 21,402
Dial-up billings 25,027 10,718 5,879
TOTAL BILLINGS, NET 307,433 303,130 343,296
Financially stressed partners (NOTE 4) {45,961) 8,406 57
Customer rebates and incentives not subject
to deferral (NOTE 5) _ (3,060) (24,160)
Other revenues, net (NOTE 6} ' 71,124 75,020 59,658
REVENUES, NET $ 332,596 $ 383,496 $  388,8m1
Three months ended
EBITDA Calculation (NOTE 2) March 31, june 30, September 30, December 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
Net loss $ (34,722) $ (27,287) $ (25,143) $ (12,779)
Plus: Other (income) expense, net 392 1,093 1,267 (5,020)
Depreciation and amortization
of property and equipment 14,593 13,752 13,054 15,160
Amortization of collocation fees
and other intangible assets 3,996 6,024 4,775 4,530
EBITDA (NOTE 2) $ (15,741) $ (8,418) $ (6,047) $ 1,891

Notes to Unaudited Selected Financial Data
1. Gross margin is calculated by subtracting network and product costs from revenues, net.

2. Management believes that Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”), defined as net loss prior to
(i) depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, (ii} amortization of intangible assets and (iii) other income (expense},
net, is a useful measure because it provides additional information about the Company’s ability to meet future capital expenditures
and working capital requirements and fund continued growth. Management also uses EBITDA to evaluate the performance of its
business segments and as a factor in its employee bonus program. EBITDA may be defined differently by other companies and should
not be used as an alternative to our operating and other financial information as determined under accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. EBITDA is not a prescribed term under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States,
does not directly correlate to cash provided by or used in operating activities and should not be considered in isolation, nor as an
alternative to more meaningful measures of performance determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. EBITDA generally excludes the effect of capital costs.

3. Broadband subscription billings is defined as customer bills issued within the period for services provided during such period (or
to be provided in future periods). Broadband subscription billings exclude charges for Federal Universal Service Fund (“FUSF”)
assessments, dial-up services, and high-capacity circuits. Broadband subscription billings include bills issued to customers that are
classified as financially distressed and whose revenue is only recognized if cash is received (refer to Note 4 below for a more detailed
discussion on accounting for financially distressed partners). Management believes broadband subscription billings is a useful
measure for investors as it represents a key indicator of the growth of the Company’s core business. Management uses broadband
subscription billings to evaluate the performance of its business segments.

4. When the Company determines that (i) the collectibility of a bill issued to a customer is not reasonably assured or (ji) its ability to
retain some or all of the payments received from a customer that has filed for bankruptcy protection is not reasonably assured, the
customer is classified as “financially distressed” for revenue recognition purposes. A bill issued to a financially distressed customer is
recognized as revenue when services are rendered and cash for those services is received, assuming all other criteria for revenue
recognition have been met, and only after the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable balances. Consequently,
significant timing differences may occur from the time a bitl is issued, the time the services are provided and the time that cash is
received and revenue is recognized. ’

5. Customer rebates and incentives.not subject to deferral consist of amounts paid or accrued under marketing, promotion and rebate
incentive programs with certain customers. Rebates and incentives paid or accrued under these programs are not accompanied by any
up-front charges billed to customers. Therefore, these charges are accounted for as reductions of revenue as incurred.

6. Other revenues consist primarily of revenue recognized from amortization of prior period SAB 101 deferrals (refer to Note 7 below
for a discussion of SAB 101), FUSF and dial-up charges billed to our customers and other revenues not subject to SAB 101 deferral
because they do not relate to an on-going customer relationship or performance of future services.

7. In the fourth quarter of 2000, retroactive to January 1, 2000, the Company adopted an accounting policy to account for up-front fees
associated with service activation and the related incremental direct costs in accordance with SAB 101, The Company recognizes up-
front fees associated with service activation, net of any amounts concurrently paid or accrued under certain marketing, promotion and
rebate incentive programs, over the expected term of the customer relationship, which is presently estimated to be 24 months, using
the straight-line method. The Company also treats the incremental direct costs of service activation (which consist principally of
customer premises equipment, service activation fees paid to other telecommunications companies and sales commissions) as
deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the up-front fees that are deferred, and such deferred incremental direct costs
are amaortized to expense using the straight-line method over 24 months.
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Se:lected Financial Data
(DCGLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
For the Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Ccnsolidated Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues, net $ 388851 $ 383,496 $ 332,506 $ 158,736 $ 66,488
De.preciation and amortization 73,884 127,088 150,839 178,425 37,602
Provision for restructuring expenses 1,235 — 14,364 4,988 —
Pravision for long-lived asset impairment - - 11,988 589,388 —
Lass from operations (102,199) (180,992) (536,880) (1,354,192) (171,61)
Inerest expense (5,526) (5,581) (92,782) (109,863) (44,472)
Reorganization expenses, net — - (62,620) - —
Giiin on extinguishment of debt - - 1,033,727 - —
In:ome (loss) before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle (99,931) (184,828) 344,758 (,433,887) (195,397)
Cu mulative effect of change in
accounting principle - — — (9,249) —
NET INCOME (LOSS) $  (99,931) $ (184,828) $ 344,758 $ (1,443,136) $ (195,397
Besic and diluted per share amounts:
Net income (loss) before cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle $ (0.44) % (0.84) $ 194 $ (9.41) % (1.83)
Cu mulative effect of accounting change — - - (0.06) -
NET INCOME {LOSS) $ (0.44) % (0.84) $ 194 $ (9.47) 9 (1.83)
W:zighted average common shares used ‘
in computing basic and diluted
per share amounts 224,949,891 219,743,662 177,347,193 152,358,589 107,647,8112
Pro forma amounts assuming the
accounting change is applied retroactively:
Net income (loss) $  (99,931) $ (184,828) $ 344,758 $ (1,433.887) $ (204,646)
Net income (loss) attributable to
common Stockholders $  (99,931) $ (184,828) $ 344,758 $ (1,433,887) $ (205,792)
Busic and dituted net income (loss)
per common share $ {0.44) $ (0.84) $ 194 % (9.41) $ (1.91)
As of December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1939
Cunsolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Ciish, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 114,345 $ 202,492 $ 283863 % 869,831 B 767,357
Net property and equipment $ 94,279 $ 108,737 $ 215,804 $ 338,409 $ 186,059
Tctal assets $ 333711 % 442,361 $ 675,168 % 1,511,485 $ 1,147,606
Lcng-term obligations, including
" current portion $ 50,000 $ 50,165 $ 50,011 % 1,374,673 $ 375,050
" Tetal stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ (5,553) % 82,299 $ 259,829 $ (182,663) $ 690,291
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
O her Operating and Financial Data:
Hiymes and businesses passed
(approximately) 46,000,000 46,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000 29,000,000
Lives in service 517,000 381,000 351,000 274,000 57,000
Cupital expenditures for property
and equipment $ 44,142 % 22,782 $ 15,732 % 319,234 $ 174,054
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Management Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains
forward-looking statements, the accuracy of which involves risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking
statements for many reasons including, but not limited to, those discussed in “Part
1. ltem 1. Business-Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any
obligation to update information contained in any forward-looking statement. See
- Forward Looking Statements.”

(ALL DOLLAR AMOUNTS ARE PRESENTED IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Overview
BACKGROUND

We are a leading provider of high-speed Internet connectivity and related communications services, which we sell to businesses
and consumers indirectly through Internet service providers, or ISPs, telecommunications carriers and other resellers. We also
sell our services directly to business and consumer end-users through our field sales force, telephone sales, referral agents
and our Web site.

We managed the Company in 2003 in two strategic business units. Covad Strategic Partnerships, or CSP, focused on delivering
services to enterprise, corporate, small business, small office/home office, or SoHo, and consumer customers primarily
through wholesale relationships with large 1SPs, telecommunications carriers and other large resellers. Covad Broadband Solutions,
or CBS, focused on small business and SoHo markets by selling services directly to end-users as well as through independent
authorized sales agents, small {SPs and resellers,

Beginning in January 2004, we realigned our business and no longer maintain CSP and CBS as separate business units. We
believe this realignment will lead to more efficient product development, sales and marketing because we will no longer have
two separate groups providing these functions. In connection with this realignment, David McMorrow, previously our Senior
Vice President, Corporate Development, was appointed Executive Vice President, Sales; Andy Lockwood, previously our
Executive Vice President and General Manager for CSP, was appointed Executive Vice President, Market Development, and Patrick
Bennett, previously our Executive Vice President and General Manager for CBS, was appointed Executive Vice President and
will oversee our product development and management, including our deployment of Voice over Internet Protocol.

Since our inception, we have generated significant net and operating losses and we continue to experience negative operating
cash flow. We currently have a plan in place that we believe will ultimately allow us to achieve positive cash flows from our
operating activities in mid-2004. Our cash reserves are limited and our plan is based on assumptions that we believe are reasonable,
but some of which are out of our control. If actual events differ from our assumptions, we may need to raise additional capital
on terms that are less favorable than we desire.

TRIENNIAL REVIEW

The FCC’s decision in the Triennial Review is described in detail in the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K in Item 1, Business
- Recent Developments. As a result of this ruling, in October of 2004 the traditional telephone companies will no longer be
required by law to provide us with line-shared telephone lines under Section 251 of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, although
existing customers as of October 2, 2003 are grandfathered at current rates, terms and conditions. Consequently, our future
ability to offer stand-alone Internet access over a telephone line that is being used by a traditional telephone company to provide
voice service, which is the primary service that we and our resellers have historically used to provide services to consumers,
will depend on whether we are able to enter into new agreements with the traditional telephone companies to share access
to the high frequency portion of their telephone lines on terms that are acceptable to us, or whether we are able to obtain favorable
regulatory rulings.

Pursuant to the Triennial Review, companies that compete with the traditional telephone cempanies will continue to have the
ability to access the local telephone networks to provide bundled voice and data services, so long as these arrangements are
deemed appropriate by the state public utility commissions, subject to federal guidelines. This situation affords us the
opportunity to continue to partner with voice providers, such as AT&T, to provide our data services in line-splitting relationships.

Investors should review the above-referenced discussion of the Triennial Review carefully to understand other potentially significant
effects that this ruling will have on our ability to continue to engage in our business as we have in the past, as the FCC’s ruling
creates a number of other uncertainties, challenges and opportunities for us. The final effect of many of these components of
the FCC’s ruling will be subject to:-the reactions of the various participants in the telecommunications industry, and many of
these components are, or likely will be, the subject of litigation that could influence their ultimate impact. As such, it is very
difficult for us to predict with a high level of certainty the final effects of the Triennial Review.
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Qui Opportunities and Challenges |

b
Givian the highly competitive, dynamic and heavily regulated nature of our business environment, we face a complex array of
factors that create challenges and opportunities for us. Key matters upan which we are focused at this time include the followin : :
ACHIEVE CASH FLOW SUFFICIENCY Since we exited our voluntary bankruptcy proceedings at the end of 2001, we have been
abl 2 to decrease the amount of cash flow used in our operations, and concluded 2003 with working capital of approximately
$4¢.3 million. We have a critical strategic goal of achieving cash flow sufficiency in mid-2004, and our ability te continue to
pursue our business plan is dependent on our doing so. We have reduced our expenses over the past two years and continue
to nanage expenses closely, so our ability to attain our cash flow goal will largely depend on the rate at which we can
grow our revenues.

MANAGE THROUGH A TRANSITION IN THE DELIVERY OF BROADBAND INTERNET ACCESS SERVICES TO CONSUMERS The delive
of stand-alone broadband Internet access services by our [SP customers is facing intense competition, particularty from th
inc 1mbent telephone carriers, who are aggressively pricing their consumer DSL services and placing pricing pressure on u
bul also from cable providers, like Comcast, Adelphia and Cox Communications, and wireless service providers. We believe thes
market conditions have reduced the number of orders for our services and are also causing a higher-than-historical level o
cht rn among our ultimate end-users, and we expect this situation to continue. One of our wholesale customers, AOL, has indicate
it will stop taking orders for our services and is moving to a “bring your own access” model where it will refer customers

access providers like us. Anticipating these conditions, we have entered into line-splitting arrangements with voice provider
patticularly AT&T, which are bundling our data services with their voice services. Our success in 2004 and beyond will be significant!
dependent on whether we can achieve growth in the sales of our services under these line-splitting relationships that mor
then offsets the decline in sales of our stand-alone consumer-grade data services. (
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OBTAIN ACCEPTABLE LINE-SHARING TERMS FROM THE INCUMBENT TELEPHONE COMPANIES While we expect that the revenues
we generate from line-sharing with the incumbent telephone companies will constitute a smaller portion of our business in
fut are periods, we think this market will continue to be important to us. Our ability to remain viable in this market will depen
on whether we are able to reach agreements for new customers with the telephone companies or obtain favorable regulatory
rul ngs that will allow us to share phone lines on reasonable terms.

o

|
EX>AND AND DIVERSIFY OUR SOURCES OF REVENUE We are taking steps to imprave our prospects for revenue growth.
Firit, we have announced our plan to expand our network by adding 200 central office locations, which will allow us offer oLr
services to more end-users. Secand, we will continue our efforts to diversify our revenue sources by adding new resellers
like: Broadwing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Corvis Corporation, and Global Crossing, that primarily resell our higher-pric%:d
business-grade services.

NEW MARKET OPPORTUNITIES We recently announced our plan to offer Voice over Internet Protoco!, or VolP, services by the
end of 2004. We believe that VoIP services have the potential to be a significant contributor to our revenue growth in 2005 and
be'rond. Therefore, we are in the process of developing this capability, and our success in providing this new service will depeﬁd
on: our ability to offer a service that operates as a replacement for the voice services provided by other phone companies. ‘

Restructuring and Reorganization Activities

On August 15, 2001, the Petition Date, we filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code fto
im slement the agreements we entered into with the majority holders of our then-outstanding debt securities, which we refer
to 1s the Noteholders, and to restructure various financial obligations. The Petition was filed with the United States Bankruptcy
Co.rt for the District of Delaware. Our operating subsidiaries did not commence bankruptcy proceedings and continued to operate
in “he ordinary course of business. On December 13, 2001, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order confirming our First Amended
Ple n of Reorganization and, on December 20, 2001, the Effective Date, this Plan was consummated and we emerged from bankruptcy.
Hewever, the Bankruptcy Court still maintains jurisdiction over certain administrative matters related to the implementation
of this Plan, including certain unresolved claims. Under the Plan, we extinguished approximately $1,394,020 in aggregate face
amount of outstanding debt securities, in exchange for a combination of approximately $271,708 in cash and 35,292,80(?J0f
our common shares, or 15% of the reorganized company. We also recorded a gain on the extinguishment of debt in the amount
of $1,033,727 in the fourth quarter of 2001.

As part of our Chapter 11 proceeding, we signed a loan agreement and restructured our resale and marketing agreement with
SEC Communications, or SBC. The agreements included four financial elements: a one-time $75,000 prepayment, collateralized
by substantially all of our domestic assets, that SBC can use toward the purchase of our services during the next 10 years; a
$50,000 four-year loan, collateralized by substantially all of our domestic assets; a payment to us of a $10,000 restructuring
fee in exchange for eliminating SBC’s revenue commitments under the original resale and marketing agreement; and the elimination
of a $15,000 cooperative marketing fee owed by us to SBC under the previous resale and marketing agreement. We received
th2se funds on December 20, 2001. Under these agreements, upon a change of control, we are required to repay any
ot tstanding principal and interest on the loan and any unused portion of the prepayment. in addition, SBC may accelerate any
ur paid portion of the prepayment and the loan in the event that we default. ‘

|

1

#
23/ covm‘o3




On June 25, 2001, our former subsidiary, BlueStar Communications Group, Inc., or BlueStar, made an irrevocable assignment
for the benefit of its creditors, or ABC, of all its assets to an independent trustee, or Assignee, in the state of Tennessee. immediately
thereafter, the Assignee began an orderly liguidation of BlueStar that was initially expected to be completed in the fourth quarter
of 2002. However, the Assignee has informed us that it is still in the process of resolving some matters among BlueStar creditors
and the process may extend into the second half of 2004. An ABC under Tennessee law is a non-judicial alternative to a plan
of liguidation under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the ABC, BlueStar’s former assets are no
longer controlled by us or BlueStar and cannot be used by either BlueStar's or our board of directars to satisfy the liabilities
of BlueStar. Consequently, the liguidation of BlueStar’s assets and the discharging of its liabilities are currently under the sole
control of the Assignee. Therefore, due to this loss of control, we deconsolidated BlueStar effective June 25, 2001, which resulted
in the recognition of a deferred gain in the amount of approximately $55,200 in our consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2001. Such deferred gain represented the difference between the carrying values of BlueStar’s assets, aggregating
approximately $7,900, and liabilities, aggregating approximately $63,100, as of June 25, 2001. During 2003 and 2002, we reduced
the deferred gain by $9 and $1,228, respectively, because certain BlueStar assets were inadvertently not deconsolidated on
june 25, 2001. Therefore, the deconsolidation of BlueStar resulted in a deferred gain balance of $53,963 and $53,972 in our
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We will recognize such deferred gain as an element
of other income in our consolidated statements of operations when the liquidation of BlueStar is complete and its liabilities
have been discharged.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. For
additional information regarding our critical accounting policies, please see Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
The application of these policies requires us to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our accounting estimates on historical experience

~and otherfactors that we believe to be féasenable Under the circumstances. However, actual results may vary from these estimates
under different assumptions or ¢onditions. We have discussed the development and selection of critical accounting policies
and estimates with our audit committee. The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies and estimates we make
in preparing our consolidated financial statements:

o We recognize revenues when persuasive evidence of an arrangement between the customer and us exists, service has been
provided to the customer, the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and collectibility of the sales price is reasonably
assured. We recognize up-front fees associated with service activation over the expected term of the customer relationship,
which is presently estimated to be 24 months, using the straight-line method. Similarly, we treat the incremental direct costs
of service activation, which consist principally of customer premises equipment, service activation fees paid to other
telecommunications companies and sales commissions, as deferred charges in amounts no greater than the up-front fees
that are deferred, and such incremental direct costs are amortized to expense using the straight-line method over 24 maonths.

o We have concentrations of credit risk with several customers, some of which were experiencing financial difficulties as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and were not current in their payments for our services as of those dates. We classify this group
of customers as financially distressed for revenue recognition purposes. Accordingly, we recognize revenues from these customers
in the period in which cash is collected, but only after the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable
balances. We record payments received from financially distressed customers during a defined period prior to their filing of
petitions for bankruptcy protection in the consolidated balance sheet caption unearned revenues if our ability to retain these
payments is not reasonably assured. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and maintain
an allowance for estimated credit losses. In addition, we have billing disputes with some of our customers. These disputes
arise in the ordinary course of business in the telecommunications industry and their impact on our accounts receivable and
revenues can be reasonably estimated based on historical experience. In addition, certain customer revenues are subject
to refund if the end-user terminates service within thirty days of service activation. Accordingly, we maintain allowances,
through charges to revenues, based on our estimate of the ultimate resolution of these disputes and future service
cancellations, and our reported revenue in any period could be different than what is reported if we employed different
assumptions in estimating the outcomes of these items. See “Results of Operations — Revenues, net” for a further discussion
of the impact of these billing matters on our reported revenue,

o We state our inventories at the lower of cost or market. In assessing the ultimate recoverability of inventories, we are required
to make estimates regarding future customer demand.

o We implemented significant reorganization and restructuring plans in 2001 and 2000. We also consummated a plan of
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on December 20, 2001. As of December 31, 2003, we
had certain unresolved claims relating to our Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings that remain in dispute. Therefore, it is reasonably
possible that such disputed bankruptcy claims could ultimately be settled for amounts that differ from the aggregate liability
for such claims reflected in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2003.
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of which were significantly revised in 2001. In assessing the recoverability of our property and equipment and intangible assets,
we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respectjve
assets. if these estimates and assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional impairment charges
relating to our property and equipment and intangible assets.

o We record property and equipment and intangible assets at cost, subject to adjustments for impairment. We depreciate|or
amortize property and equipment and intangible assets using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, cert%’

* We are a party to a variety of legal proceedings, as either plaintiff or defendant, and are engaged in other disputes that arise
in the ordinary course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these
matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses for certain of these matters. The determination of the liabilitiesito
be recognized, if any, for loss contingencies is made after careful analysis of each individual situation based on the facts
and circumstances. However, it is reasonably possible that the liabilities reflected in our consolidated balance sheets for
loss contingencies and business disputes could change in the near term due to new facts and circumstances, the effects of
which could be material to our consolidated financial position and resuits of operations.

e We are currently anatyzing the applicability of certain transaction-based taxes to sales of our products and services and purchases
of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This analysis includes discussions with authorities of jurisdiction; in
which we do business and various transaction-based tax experts to determine the extent of our transaction-based tax liabiliti%s.
We believe that these discussions will be concluded without a material adverse effect on our consotidated financial position
and resuits of operations. In addition, we are currently analyzing the probable applicability of employment-related taxesior
certain stock-based compensation provided to employees in prior periods. We believe that the analysis of the probable
applicability of these taxes will be concluded without a material adverse effect to our consolidated financial position and
results of operations. However, it is reasonably possible that our estimates of our transaction-based and employment-related
tax liabilities could change in the near term, the effects of which could be material to our consolidated financial position
and results of operations. ’

o We account forincome taxes using the liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based
on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of our assets and liabilities. We record a valuation allowance
on our deferred tax assets to arrive at an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the future, should we determine
that we are able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets, which presently are fully reserved, an adjustment to our
deferred tax assets would increase income in the period in which the determination was made.

o We account for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic vatue method, and non-employees using the fair value
method. Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of our employee stock options equals or exceeds the market
price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, we do not record compensation expense in our consolidated statement
of operations. We use the intrinsic value method in accounting for employee stock options because the alternative fair vatue
accounting requires us to use option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee stock optiops.
Rather, such option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. Because our employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from
those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimages
of these valuation models, we believe stch existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the Fair
value of our employee stock options.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

01 May 15, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS,
No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150
ectablishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of
the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity, such as mandatorily redeemable equity instruments. SFAS
Nn. 150 must be applied immediately to instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and to all other instruments
that exist as of the beginning of the first interim financial reporting period beginning after june 15, 2003, except for mandatofily
redeemable instruments of non-public companies, to which the provisions of SFAS No. 150 must be applied in fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2003. The application of SFAS No. 150 to pre-existing instruments should be recognized
a« the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 had no effect on our consolidated
financial statements. |

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation, or FiN, No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an interpretation
ol Accounting Research Bulleting No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” FIN 46 applies to any business enterprise that
hits a controlling interest, contractual relationship or other business relationship with a variable interest entity, or VIE, and establishes
giiidance for the consolidation of VIEs that function to support the activities of the primary beneficiary. FIN 46 was effective
immediately for enterprises with VIEs created after January 31, 2003, and it will be effective March 31, 2004 for enterprises with
V Es created before February 1, 2003. We do not expect the adoption of FIN 46 to have a significant effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
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On January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with an Exit or Disposal Activity.” SFAS
No. 146 revises the accounting for exit and disposal activities under the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue
No. g94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” by extending the period in which expenses related to restructuring activities are
reported. A commitment to a plan to exit an activity or dispose of long-lived assets is no longer sufficient to record a one-time
charge for most restructuring activities. Instead, companies record exit or disposal costs when they are incurred and can be
measured at fair value. In addition, the resultant liabilities are subsequently adjusted for changes in estimated cash flows.
SFAS No. 146 was effective prospectively for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Companies may not
restate previously issued financial statements for the effect of the provisions of SFAS No. 146, and liabilities that a company
previously recorded under EITF Issue No. 94-3 are grandfathered. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 had no effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13,
I and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145.rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” which.
required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material, classified as an extraordinary
item, net of related income tax effect. SFAS No. 145, which is effective in periods beginning after May 15, 2002, requires that
gains or losses from extinguishment of debt be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB Opinion
No. 30. Upon adoption of SFAS Nq. 145 in 2003, we reclassified the gain on extinguishment of debt that we recognized in 2001,
which was previously classified as an extraordinary item, as an element of other income (expense) in our 2001 consolidated
statement of operations.

I

On january 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 requires that the
fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate
of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived
asset. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 had no effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure.”
SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition
for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition,
SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure of the effects of an entity’s
accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported results of operations, including per share
amounts, in annual and interim financial statements. The disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 were effective immediately upon
issuance in 2002. As of December 31, 2003, we have no immediate plans to adopt the fair value method of accounting for stock-
based employee compensation.

In November 2002, the EITF reached a final consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with
Multipte Deliverables,” which is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003.
Under E{TF Issue No.oo-21, revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be divided into separate units of
accounting under certain circumstances. We adopted EITF Issue No. 0o-21 on July 1, 2003, and such adoption did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 requires certain guarantees to be recorded at fair value,
which is different from current practice, which is generally to record a liability only when a loss is probabie and reasonably estimable.

- FIN No. 45 also requires a guaranfor to make significant new disclosures, even when the likelihood of making any payments
under the guarantee is remote. The disclosure provisions of FIN No. 45 were effective immediately upon issuance in 2002. We
adopted the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 on a prospective basis with respect to guarantees issued
or modified after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 had no effect
on our consolidated financial statements. However, some of our contracts with our customers have provisions that would require
us to indemnify them in the event that our services infringe upon a third party’s intetlectual property rights.

Reclassifications and Adjustments

Certain balances in the Company’s 2002 and 2001 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
presentation in 2003,

During the year ended December 31, 2003, a matter was identified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated
the recording of additional expense. Such matter was related to the modification of stock options granted to certain employees
in prior years. These modifications occurred upon the separation of such employees from our Company, principally during 2000.
Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded additional stock-based compensation expense in the amount
of $1,236 ($0.01 per share). Such amount is reflected in our sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2003. We do not believe this amount is material to the periods in which it should have been recorded, nor
do we believe it is material to our consolidated operating results for the year ended December 31, 2003. This adjustment is
principally related to 2000, the impact of which would have been to increase sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses
and net loss by $1,236 or $0.01 per share for such year. As explained below, certain other adjustments were recorded during
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2012 that related to prior periods. $1,139 of such amounts pertained to 2000, the effect of which would have been to decrea‘se
the Company’s 2000 net loss by $0.01 per share. The aggregate effect of the adjustments recorded during the years ended December
31, 2003 and 2002 to the previously reported results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2000 would be to increase

ne loss by $97, or $0.00 per share, for such year if these adjustments had been recorded in 2000.

As part of the continuing evaluation of our network assets during the year ended December 31, 2002, certain matters were identified
related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adjustments to certain expenses. Such matters
were related principally to changes in our network configuration, which necessitated reductions of the remaining estimated
us :fut lives of certain network equipment, the capitalization of certain network and product costs that should have been charged
to operating expenses when they were incurred and various restructuring activities that resulted in the abandonment of certain
network equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded additional
depreciation expense of $6,989, network and product costs of $2,6335, loss on the disposition of property and equipment|of
$¢35 and interest expense of $51. In addition, as part of our financial statement close process for the year ended December
31. 2002, we discovered that amortization expense related to non-cash deferred stock-based compensation was overstated|in
pr or periods by $3,213. Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded reductions of network and product costs
of $320 and sales, marketing, general and administrative expense of $2,893. Furthermore, as part of the review of aur
De cember 31, 2002 tax accruals, we determined that we had overstated our transaction-based tax and other tax accruals|in
pr or periods by $4,804, which we adjusted during the three months ended December 31, 2002 through a reduction of network
and product costs. The adjustment was primarily driven by various complex rules surrounding our estimated liability to the Federal
Universal Service Fund, or FUSF. We do not believe any of the aforementioned amounts are material to the periods in which
thay should have been recorded, nor do we believe the prospective correction of such amounts during the year ended
December 31, 2002 is material to our consolidated operating results for such year. The prospective correction of (he
af srementioned amounts relating to prior periods increased our 2002 consolidated net loss by $2,294, or $0.01 per share, and
de-creased our 2001 net loss by $3,433 or $0.02 per share.

|
Rosults of Operations |
1
RIEVENUES, NET |

|

The primary component of our net revenues is earned monthly broadband subscription billings for DSL products. We also earn
revenues from monthly billings for high-capacity circuits sold to our wholesale customers and to a lesser degree for dialfup
services, Because we do not recognize revenue from sales to financially distressed customers until we receive payment and
until our ability to keep the payment is reasonably assured, our reported revenues in each of the last three years have been
inipacted by whether we receive, and the timing of receipt of, payments from these customers. OQur revenues also inctude billiigs
ferinstallation services and equipment, which are recognized as revenue over the expected life of the relationship with the end-
user, and FUSF charges billed to our customers. Customer incentives and rebates that we offer to attract and retain customers

are recorded as reductions to revenue. J

Qur net revenues in 2003 increased by $5,355, or 1.4%, over 2002 and $56,255, or 16.9%, over 2001. This growth in 2003 Jvas
d Je to the addition of approximately 136,000 DSL end-users to our network, which led to an increase in broadband subscription
b llings. We expect our revenues and broadband subscription billings to continue to grow as we execute our current sales and
m arketing programs. In addition, we plan to introduce new sales and marketing programs and create new services for our custoners
te lead to higher revenues and broadband subscription billings. The increase in our revenues and broadband subscription billings
in 2003 was offset by several factors. Our high-capacity circuit revenues and billings in 2003 decreased, primarily driven by
¢ 1stomer network configuration changes and consolidation in our customer transport circuits. We do not expect a signifigant
increase or decrease in high-capacity circuit billings in 2004. In addition, our dial-up revenues and billings continued to decrease
in 2003, primarily driven by the decrease in demand for this service. We expect that demand for this service will continue to
decrease in 2004. Furthermore, revenue recognized from our financially distressed customers decreased during 2003. The amgunt
of revenue recognized in 2002 from payments received from financially distressed customers was higher than the corresponding
amount in 2003 because we received several large payments from financially distressed customers for billings that were|not
initially included in revenue. As a result of the reduction in billings issued to financially distressed customers in 2002 and 2¢o3,
vie received fewer payments from financially distressed customers in 2003. Due to the reduction in broadband subscription
tillings to distressed customers, we currently do not expect that a significant amount of revenue in 2004 will come from these
customers. In 2003, we also increased our customer rebates and incentives, which resulted in reductions to our revenues, We
expect customer rebates and incentives ta cantinue to be an element of our sales and marketing programs due to competqtive
riarket conditions. Revenue from installation services and equipment billings, which we recognize over the expected life oﬁthe
end user, decreased in 2003, primarily driven by lower net seiling prices, some of which is attributable to lower prices ﬁrom
cur vendors and competitive pricing in the marketplace. We expect prices for these services and equipment to continue to degline
ivthe future. FUSF charges billed to our customers, which we recognize as revenue, decreased in 2003, primarily driven by changes
i1 the applicability of FUSF to some of our wholesale customers. J

\We regularly have billing disputes with our customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of business in}the

telecommunications industry and we believe their impact on our accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimated

hased on historical experience. In addition, certain revenues are subject to refund if the end-user terminates service within th irty

days of service activation. Accordingly, we maintain allowances, through charges to revenues, based on our estimate off the
!
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ultimate resolution of these disputes and future service cancellations. These charges to revenues were $2,886, $2,322 and $11,178
during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, we recovered $1,282 and $2,145 of accounts receivable balances previously written-off against such allowance.
There were no similar recoveries of accounts receivable balances for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Segment Revenues and Significant Customers
Our segment net revenues were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
csp $ 236,928 $ 231,721 $ 162,054
Percent of total net revenues 60.9% 60.4% 48.7%
(BS $ 151,923 $ 151,775 $ 170,542
Percent of total net revenues 39.1% 39.6% 51.3%

We had over 300 wholesale customers as of December 31, 2003 compared to approximately 150 as of December 31, 2002 and
2001. The increase in 2003 from 2002 resulted primarily from the addition of smaller resellers to our CBS segment. For the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, our 30 largest wholesale customers in each such year collectively comprised 93.3%,
93.3% and 88.5% of our total wholesale net revenues, respectively, and 71.6%, 79.5% and 76.0% of our total net revenues,
respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, receivables from these customers collectively comprised 70.3% and 75.3%,
respectively, of our gross accounts receivable halance.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, EarthLink, Inc. and AT&T, two wholesale customers in our CSP business segment, accounted
for 21.5% and 12.5%, respectively, of our total net revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2002, these customers accounted
for 20.0% and 10.4%, respectively, of our total net revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2001, these customers accounted
for 17.5% and 6.4%, respectively, of our total net revenues. As of December 31, 2003, receivables from these customers comprised
20.9% and 17.1%, respectively, of our gross accounts receivable balance. As of December 31, 2002, receivables from these customers
comprised 25.9% and 11.7%, respectively, of our gross accounts receivable balance. No other individual customer accounted
for more than 10% of our total revenues in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Beginning in January 2004 we realigned our business and no longer maintain CSP and CBS as separate business units. We believe
this realignment will lead to more efficient product development, sales and marketing because we will no longer have two separate
groups providing these functions. We expect most of our revenue growth in 2004 to come from our wholesale customers because
we expect increased sales of business-grade services by these resellers and increased sales through line-splitting agreements
with wholesale customers like AT&T.

Wholesaler Financial Difficulties

Some of our resellers are experiencing financial difficulties. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, certain
of these customers either were not current in their payments for our services or were essentially current in their payments but,
subsequent to the end of the reporting period, their financial condition deteriorated significantly and some of them filed for
bankruptcy protection. Based on this information, we determined that the collectibility of revenues from these customers was
not reasonably assured or our ability to retain some or all of the payments received from some of these customers that filed
for bankruptcy protection was not reasonably assured. Accordingly, we have classified this group of customers as “financially
distressed” for revenue recognition purposes. Although MCi, formerly known as WorldCom, Inc., filed for bankruptcy protection
during the year ended December 31, 2002, we have not classified it as a financially distressed customer based on MCl’s specific
facts and circumstances in relation to the revenue recognition criteria described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements. Therefore, we continued to recognize revenues from MCl on an accrual basis during 2003 and 200z2.

A number of our customers are currently in bankruptcy proceedings. Revenues from these customers accounted for approximately
1.3%, 5.6% and 7.1% of our total net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As described
above, although MCl filed for bankruptcy protection on july 21, 2002, we continued to recognize revenues from MC! on an accrual
basis during 2003 and 2002 based on the revenue recognition criteria described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements.
Consequently, the disclosures in the following paragraph related to financially distressed customers exclude amounts pertaining
to MCl because we have not presently classified it as a financially distressed customer for revenue recognition purposes.

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, we issued billings to our financially distressed customers
aggregating $5,139, $42,881 and $74,928, respectively, that were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in our
consalidated financial statements. However, we recognized net revenues from certain of these customers when cash was collected
aggregating $4,367, $47,609 and $29,003 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Revenues
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, include payments totaling $827 and $4,427,
respectively, from certain bankrupt customers that we received prior to January 1, 2002 and recorded as unearned revenues in
our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 because our ability to retain these payments was not reasonably assured
as of that date. However, as a result of subsequent developments in the bankruptcy proceedings of such customers, we determined
that our ability to retain these payments was reasonably assured prior to December 31, 2003. Consequently, we recognized
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thase payments as revenues during 2003 and 2002. No such payments were recognized as revenues during the year end;ed
December 31, 2001. We had contractual receivables from our financially distressed customers totaling $1,093 and $6,0F1,
re;spectively, as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 that are not reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

W2 have identified certain of our customers, including MCl, who were essentially current in their payments for our services prior
to December 31, 2003, or have subsequently paid all or significant portions of the respective amounts that we recorded as accousnts
rezeivable as of December 31, 2003, that we believe may have a high risk of becoming financially distressed. Revenues from
these customers accounted for approximately 11.6%, 34.6% and 14.2% of our total net revenues for the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of December 31, 2003, receivables from these customers comprised 14.7% of our gross
accounts receivable balance. If these customers are unable to demonstrate their ability to pay for our services in a timely manner
in periods ending subsequent to December 31, 2003, revenue from such customers will only be recognized when cash is collected,
as described above.

|
Operating Expenses !
0)erating expenses include network and product costs, sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses, provision (for
and recoveries of bad debts, depreciation and amortization expenses, restructuring expenses, provisions for impairment of long-
lived assets and litigation-related expenses.

O 1r total operating expenses were as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Ainount $ 491,050 $ 564,488 $ 869,476
Percent of net revenue 126.3% 147.2% 261.4%

N stwork and Product Costs

N atwork and product costs consist primarily of the costs of provisioning and maintaining telecommunications circuits and central

olfice space, equipment sold to our customers, and labor related expenses and other non-labor items to operate and maintain
our network and related system infrastructure.
Qur network and product costs were as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Anount $ 283,401 $ 298,336 $ 461,875
Psrcent of net revenue 72.9% 77.8% 138.6%

Our network and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2003 were lower because we managed our network capacity
more efficiently and obtained lower prices for the copper loops we purchase from the traditional telephone companies. These
reductions in network and product costs were partially offset by the additional network and product costs associated with the
a1dition of subscribers to our network. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2003, we changed our estimates;; of
cirrtain liabilities for transaction-based taxes and property taxes based on settlements reached with various states and local
jurisdictions on our transaction-based taxes and additional compilation of data on the valuation of our taxable property and
e juipment. These changes in accounting estimate decreased our network and product costs by $8,439 during the year ended
December 31, 2003. Also during 2003, we changed our estimates of certain liabilities for collocation and network services as
a result of the resolution of various billing disputes with our vendors and on our receipt of an invoice in December 2003 from
a vendor for certain services provided by such vendor primarily in 2000 and 2001, which we are currently disputing. These changes
ir accounting estimate increased our network and product costs by $3,414 during the year ended 2003. Network and proguct
cists for the year ended December 31, 2003 include $6,018 of migration expenses from the Qwest customer list acquisition
and $2,135 for the probable applicability of employment-related taxes related to certain stock-based compensation provided
to employees in prior periods. Network and product costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 include a credit of $5,550 from
the settlement of certain disputed network service obligations during the year and customer acquisition costs of $3,674 associgted
with the acquisition of InternetConnect assets. Iincluded in network and product costs for the year ended December 31, 2po1
is.a credit of $5,570 from the settlement of certain disputed collocation claims costs of approximately $34,768 from our BlueStar
s ibsidiary, which we deconsolidated effective June 25, 2001.

Ve expect network and product costs to increase in future periods as we add subscribers and services like line-splitting tojour
network. To offset these increased costs, we plan to continue cost-saving programs, like outsourcing portions of our customer
sapport to India and improving the technology we use to deliver our services. We expect that network and product costs as a
percentage of revenue will decline as we transition more of our customer lines to line-splitting arrangements rather than line-
sharing arrangements because we generally do not pay a fee to our partners for access to the high-frequency portion ofjthe
rhone line used to provide our services in our line-splitting arrangements.
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As discussed in the “Overview - Triennial Review,” there is uncertainty concerning our ability.to purchase line-shared-services
from the traditional telephone companies as a result of the FCC's Triennial Review decision. As a result of those legal and regulatory
proceedings, it is possible that the traditional telephone companies could substantially increase the cost or reduce the
availability of line-shared services, which would substantially increase our overall network cost structure and might cause us
to discontinue our consumer grade services for new and existing customers.

Sales, Marketing, General and Administrative Expenses

Sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses and our promotional
and advertising expenses.

Our sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses were as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Amount $ 132,431 $ 150,373 $ 199,908
Percent of net revenue 34.1% 39.2% 60.1%

We reduced our sales, marketing, general and administrative workforce in all periods, which contributed to a reduction in our
expenses. In addition, for the year ended December 31, 2003, we reduced our advertising expense by $19,433. The decrease
in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 was partially offset by charges
of $1,236 for additional stock-based compensation and $3,796 for the potential applicability of employment-related taxes related
to certain stock-based compensation provided to employees in prior periods.

The decrease in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 is also partially
attributable to the deconsolidation of our BlueStar subsidiary, which was effective June 25, 2001. We incurred no sales, marketing,
general and administrative expenses related to BlueStar for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to $11,510 for the
year ended December 31, 2001. Sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002
include a reduction of amortization expense related to non-cash deferred stock-based compensation in the amount of $3,074.
For the year ended December 31, 2002, the decrease in sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses was offset by
an increase of approximately $10,616 in advertising expenses attributable to our radio, television and other various media marketing
and advertising programs related to our “Popularizing Broadband” campaign, which we launched on September of 2002,

We expect sales, marketing, general and administrative expense levels to remain relatively unchanged. We plan to incur additional
advertising expenses to support sales of business-grade services and our anticipated deployment of VolP services in the second
half of 2004. We plan that these increased advertising expenses will be offset by other cost-saving measures.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment was $56,559, $112,438.and.$137.920 for the years.ended-December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in 2003 and 2002 was due principally to asset retirements and certain assets
becoming futly depreciated during 2002 and 2003. As a result of increased capital expenditures in 2003 to support additional
end-users, and anticipated expenditures in 2004 to add capabilities to our network and expand coverage to an additional 200
central office locations, we expect depreciation and amortization to increase.

Amortization of intangible assets was $17,325, $14,650 and $12,919 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The increase in amortization of intangible assets in 2003 and 200z resulted from the resumption of our network build
for selected markets during 2003 and 2002, which increased collocation fee expenditures and related amortization expenses. We
expect amortization of intangible assets to continue to increase as a result of adding 200 central offices to our network in 2004.

Following the completion of our long-lived asset impairment analysis as of December 31, 2000, as discussed below, we also
re-evaluated the remaining estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets, including intangibles. As a result, effective January
1, 2001, we reduced the remaining estimated useful lives of all long-lived assets, excluding buildings and leasehold improvements,
that previously had estimated useful lives in excess of five years so that the residual balances and any subsequent additions
are now depreciated or amortized over five years. This change in accounting estimate decreased our net income by $14,006,
or $0.08 per share, in 2001.

We do not allocate depreciation and amortization expense to our business segments.

Provision for Restructuring Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we reduced our workforce by approximately 113 employees, which represented
approximately 10.3% of our workforce. The reductions covered employees in the areas of sales and marketing, operations and
corporate functions. In connection with the reductions, we recorded restructuring expenses, consisting primarily of employee
severance benefits, of $1,235 during the year ended December 31, 2003. While we do not currently plan to make any additional
materiat reductions in force, business conditions may require additional reductions in future periods.
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We recorded restructuring expenses aggregating $14,364 during the year ended December 31, 2001. These expenses cons

st

principally of collocation and building lease termination costs that met the requirements for accrual in 2001. Of these expenses,
$2,140 related to the BlueStar shutdown. We did not record any restructuring expenses during 2002. We continuously evaluate
and consider whether additional restructuring is necessary, consequently, additional charges to operations related to any further

restructuring activities may be incurred in future periods.

l

Pravision for Long-lived Asset impairment ‘

D ring the year ended December 31, 2001, we recorded a charge in the amount of $11,988 for the impairment of certain lon

g-

livad assets. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we made a decision to sell our Manassas, Virginia facility, including land, a building

and certain furniture and fixtures. in March 2002, we entered into a non-binding agreement with a third party to sell this propey
fo - less than its book value. The sale of our Manassas facility resulted in a write-down of this property in the amount of $9,94
W also recorded a write-down of goadwill in the amount of $1,989 during 2001 associated with our BlueStar subsidiary.

Liligation-related Expenses

ty
9.

W2 recorded a credit to litigation-related expenses of $11,628 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The credit represents the

nc n-cash valuation adjustment for the change in value of the 6,495,844 shares of common stock that will ultimately be distributed
pLrsuant to the Memorandum of Understanding described in Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements, We recorded

lit gation-related expenses of $31,160 for the year ended December 31, 2001, including a cash payment of $5,359 and a n
cash charge of $25,801 for the value of 9,328,334 shares of common stock that either were issued in 2001 or will ultimate
be issued, as described above. We did not recognize similar charges or credits for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Other Income (Expense)

n.
ly

|
NLT INTEREST EXPENSE Qur net interest expense was $3,421, $459 and $68,189 for the years ended December 31, 2003, zdoz

ard 2001, respectively. Net interest expense during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted principally ofinterf

st

expense on our long-term note payable to SBC, which is further described below, less interest income earned on our cash, cash
ecuivalents and short-term investments balances. Net interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2001 consis%ed
primarily of interest expense on notes that were extinguished upon our emergence from our voluntary bankruptcy proceeding
and capital lease obligations, less interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments balances
on hand during the years. For the year ended December 31, 2001, our contractual interest obligation on our notes was
$: 42,356, During the year ended December 31, 2001, we completed a reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code. Under our Plan, we were able to extinguish approximately $1,394,020 in aggregate face amount of outstandjng
nutes, including accrued interest, in exchange for a combination of approximately $271,708 in cash and 35,292,800 commion
shares, or 15% of the reorganized company. As a result of the extinguishment, we did not recognize contractual interest expense

of $49,574 for the year ended December 31, 2001 on these notes.

Asi described above, upon our emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy on December 20, 2001 (see Note 3 to our consolidated
financial statements - Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Protection - for additional information), we entered into a serieg of

new agreements with SBC (see Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements — Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) - for addition

al

information). One such agreement, the Credit Agreement, involves a term note that is collateralized by substantially all of our

domestic assets. This note bears interest at 11%, which is payable quarterly beginning in December 2003. The entire unpa
principal balance is payable in December 2005. We have the right to prepay the principal amount of the note, in whole of
pitrt, at any time without penalty.

id
n

Qur current net interest expense is limited to accrued interest on our 11% note payable to SBC offset by interest earned on cash
bilances. We may, however, seek additional debt financing if it is available on terms that we believe are favorable. If we seek

aiditional debt financing our interest expense may increase.

R:IORGANIZATION ITEMS During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recognized expenses directly associated with our Chapter

1: bankruptcy proceeding in the amount of $62,620.

These reorganization expenses consisted of non-cash adjustments to unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts and

p ‘ofessional fees for legal and financial advisory services.
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INVESTMENT LOSSES We recorded losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December 31, 2003 in the amount
of $1,026. This included impairment write-downs of equity investments of $747 and our equity in the losses of unconsolidated
affiliates of $279. We recorded losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December 31, 2002 in the amount
of $1,847. This included a net realized loss on short-term investments of $17, an impairment write-down of an equity
investment of $388, our equity in the losses of unconsolidated affiliates of $806 and a net realized loss on the sale of certain
investments in unconsolidated affiliates of $636. We recorded losses and write-downs on investments for the year ended December
31, 2001 in the amount of $19,062. This included impairment write-downs of equity investments of $10,069, our equity in the
losses of unconsolidated affiliates of $13,769, the recognition of other than temporary losses on short-term investments of
$1,311, a net realized gain on short-term investments of $5,909 and a net realized gain on the sale of an investment in an
unconsolidated affiliate of $178.

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME AND EXPENSES We recorded miscellaneous income for the year ended December 31, 2003 in the
amount of $6,715. Included in this amount are $5,606 of royalty payments received from a license agreement on our 0SS software,
$5,000 of which was received as a result of an amendment to the license agreement that resulted in the acceleration of a payment
that was originally scheduled to be received in 2005. The remaining balance included in miscellaneous income is primarily
comprised of trade purchase discounts. We recorded miscellanecus expenses for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001 in the amount of $1,530 and $2,218, respectively. These amounts are primarily comprised of losses on the disposition
of certain of our fixed assets.

GAIN ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT We recorded a gain on extinguishment of debt in the amount of $1,033,727 for the year
ended December 31, 2001. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements — Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Proceedings
-~ for additional information.

Income Taxes

We made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying consalidated financial statements because
we incurred operating losses in each of these periods. In addition, we made no provision for income taxes on the gain resulting
from the extinguishment of debt in 2001 due to the relevant tax regulations governing the treatment of debt extinguishment
income in Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. As of December 31, 2003, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal
tax purposes of approximately $761,000, which will begin to expire in 2022, if not utilized. As a result of the Company
emerging from bankruptcy, the federal operating loss carryforwards have been reduced by approximately $995,000 in 2001.
We also had aggregate net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of approximately $1,221,000, of which
$14,856 will expire in 2004, $122,832 will expire in 2005, and $1,083,312 will expire through 2022, if not utilized. In addition,
we had capital loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $42,000, which will begin to expire
in 2006.

The utilization of the Company’s net operating loss may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the “change in ownership”
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result
in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.

Realization of our deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary differences is dependent
upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, our net deferred tax assets have been fully
offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased (decreased) by $39,071, $129,529 and $(145,941) during
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
The Company’s 2003 and 2002 unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly financial information is as follows:

Three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2003:
Revenues, net $ 90,860 $ 92,445 $ 100,507 $ 105,039
Ne work and product costs 3 68,877 $ 68,632 $ 74,052 $ 71,840
Sales, marketing, general and
Administrative $ 36,895 $ 31,791 $ 32,510 $ 31,235
Los.s from operations $ (34,330) $ (26,194) $ (23,876) $ (27,799
Ne: loss $ (B4,722)  $ {27,287) (25,143) $ (12,779
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.16) $ {0.12) $ (0.12) $ (0.06
Three months ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
202: !
Re'renues, net $ 101,666 $ 97,733 $ 96,206 $ 87.891J
Network and product costs $ 90,194 $ 76,262 $ 69,546 $ 62,334!
Sa es, marketing, general and
administrative $ 37,204 $ 33,833 $ 41,173 $ 38,163
Losis from operations $ (56,374) % (39.524) % {51,864) $ (33,2303
Net loss $ (56,839) $ (40,793)  $ (5s1,707)  $ (35,489f
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.26) $ (0.19) $ (0.23) % (0.16

During the year ended December 31, 2003, a matter was identified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated
the: recording of additional expense. Such matter was related to the modification of stock options granted to certain employeles
in arior years. These modifications occurred upon the separation of such employees from our Company, principally during 20do.
Ac:ordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded additional stock-based compensation expense in the amount
of $1,236 ($0.01 per share). Such amount is reflected in our sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2003. We do not believe this amount is material to the periods in which it should have been recorded, ror
do we believe it is material to our consolidated operating results for the year ended December 31, 2003. This adjustment| is
principally related to 2000, the impact of which would have been to increase sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses
and net loss by $1,236 ($0.01 per share) for such year. As explained below, certain other adjustments were recorded during
2002 that related to prior periods. $1,139 of such amounts pertained to 2000, the effect of which would have been to decrease
our 2000 net loss by $0.01 per share. The aggregate effect of the adjustments recorded during the years ended December #1,
2c03 and 2002 to the previously reported results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2000 wouid be to increa"se

net loss by $97, or $0.00 per share, for such year if these adjustments had been recorded in 2000. |

Ac part of the continuing evaluation of our network assets during the third and fourth quarters of 2002, certain matters we{gre
id:ntified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adjustments to certain expenses. Such
matters were related principally to (i) changes in our network configuration, which necessitated reductions of the remaining
estimated useful lives of certain network equipment, (i) the capitalization of certain network and product costs that should
hzve been charged to operating expenses when they were incurred and (iii) various restructuring activities that resulted in the
at andonment of certain network equipment and leasehold improvements. Accordingly, for the three months ended September
3¢, 2002, we recorded additional (i) depreciation expense of $9,584 and (i) network and product costs of $1,215. During the
three months ended December 31, 2002, we reduced depreciation expense by $1,306 and recorded additional (i) network and
product costs of $1,930, (i) loss on the disposition of property and equipment of $863 and (iii) interest expense of $75 as a
result of this continuing evaluation. In addition, as part of our financial statement close process for the fourth quarter of 2002,
w: discovered that we had overstated our non-cash amortization expense relating to deferred stock-based compensation in
prior periods by $3,745. Therefore, we recorded reductions of (i) network and product costs of $671 and (ii) sales, marketing,
general and administrative expense of $3,074 during the three months ended December 31, 2002. Furthermore, as part of the
review of our December 31, 2002 tax accruals, we determined that we had overstated our transaction-based tax and other fax
accruals in prior periods by $5,291, which we adjusted during the three months ended December 31, 2002 through a reductjon
of network and product costs of $5,122 and a reduction of sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses of $169. The
atljustment was primarily driven by various complex rules surrounding our estimated liability to the Federal Universal Service
Fu nd. We do not believe any of the aforementioned amounts are material to the periods in which they should have been recordped,
nor do we believe the prospective correction of such amounts during the year ended December 31, 2002 is material to our
cunsolidated operating results for such year. The impact on prior financial reporting periods in 2003 and 2062 would have been
as follows if the amounts described above had been recorded in the proper financial reporting periods:
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Three Months Ended Year Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 December 31

2003:
Net loss, as reported $ (34,7220 % (27,287) % (25,143) $ (12,779) $ (99,931)
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods, which is included

in net loss, as reported = 1,236 - - 1,236
Net toss, net of effect of prospec-

tively correcting certain differ-

ences relating to prior periods $  (34,722) (26,051)  $  (25143) $ (12,779} $  (98,695)
Net loss per share, as reported  $ (0.16) % (012) $ (0.11) $ (0.06) $ 0.45)
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods, which is included

in net loss per share, as reported — 0.01 — — 0.01
Net loss per share, net of effect

of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating

wr

to prior periods $ (0.16) $ (011) $ (011}  $ (0.06) % (0.44)
Three Months Ended Year Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3o December 32 December 31

2002:
Net loss, as reported $ (6839 $ (40,793) % (51,7077  $  (35.489)  $  (184,828)

Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods, which is included

in net loss, as reported - — 10,799 (7,474) 3,325
Effect of unadjusted differences (1,186) (1,231) 1,386 - (1,031)
Net loss, had unadjusted differ-

ences been recorded, net of

effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods $ (58,025) $  (42,024)
Net loss per share, as reported  $ (0.26) $ (0.19)
Effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods, which is included

in net loss per share, as reported — —~ 0.04 {0.03) 0.01
Effect of unadjusted differences (0.01) (0.01) 0.01 - (0.01)
Net loss per share, had unadjusted )

differences been recorded, net of

effect of prospectively correcting

certain differences relating to

prior periods $ (0.27) % (0.20) $ {0.18) $ (0.19) $ (0.84)

o

(42,963) $ (182,534)
(0.16) $ (0.84)

(39,522)
(0.23)

&
Rl R
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Related Party Transactions |

Ou- former Vice-chairman and former interim Chief Executive Officer, Frank Marshall, who was also a member of our Board of
Diractors from October 1997 to December 2002, was a minority stockholder and former member of the board of directors of
one: of our former ISP customers, InternetConnect, which filed for bankruptcy protection in 2001. On January 3, 2002, we purchased
substantially all of the assets of internetConnect in an auction supervised by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central
District of California for $5,470 in cash, and we may be required to pay additional cash of up to $1,880 for the assets pf
IntornetConnect, depending upon the outcome of a previous post-petition bankruptcy claim filed by us against InternetConnect.
That claim is still unreselved. We did not assume any liabilities or obligations of InternetConnect or hire any of InternetConnect’s
employees.

We acquired an equity interest in a supplier during 1999 and disposed of this interest in 2001. Purchases from this supplier
totaled $8,346, $5,774 and $13,928 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We also purchased
certain products from a company in which Mr. Marshall serves as a director. Purchases from this vendor totaled $269, $258
and $140 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

A member of our Board of Directors, Richard Jalkut, is the President and CEQ of TelePacific, one of our resellers. We recognized
revenues from TelePacific of $611, $1,311 and $1,822 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

L. Dale Crandall, one of our Directors, is also a director of BEA Systems, one of our vendors, We paid $2,232, $121 and $214 to
BEA Systems during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

We believe the terms of these transactions are comparable to transactions that would likely be negotiated with clearly
inc ependent parties.

Lic vidity and Capital Resources

Our operations have required substantial capital investment for the procurement, design and construction of our central ofﬁLe
collocation facilities, the design, creation, implementation and maintenance of our internal support system infrastructure, the
pu-chase of teiecommunications equipment and the design, development and maintenance of our networks. Capital expenditu%s
were $59,031 for the year ended December 31, 2003. This included $3,750 of expenditures in connection with our acquisition

|
of 1 customer list from Qwest. 1

We expect to incur $7,833 in capital expenditures for the purchase of additional equipment for the 200 central offices we pi%n
to add to our network in 2004. Even with these expenditures, we do not anticipate a significant change in our capital
exsenditures for 2004, However, if we do not add end-users to our network at the rate that we anticipate capital expenditures
wi | be lower in comparison to 2003. If we add more end-users than we anticipate, our capital expenditures related to the new
end-users will increase in comparison with 2004.

Frem our inception through December 31, 2003, we have financed our operations primarily through private placements of $220,600
of 2quity securities, $1,282,000 in net proceeds raised from the issuance of notes, including our agreement with SBC for a $50,0p0
note payable, a $75,000 collateralized deposit from SBC and $719,000 in net proceeds raised from public equity offerings.
As of December 31, 2003, we had an accumulated deficit of $1,629,267, and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents, and shoirt-
term investments of $114,345. In addition, we had a stockholders’ deficit as of December 31, 2003 of $5,553 and current liabilities

of $114,317.

Net cash used in our operating activities was $45,553 for the year ended December 31, 2003, in comparison with $76,042|in
net cash used in our operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2002. The net cash used in our operating activities
during 2003 was primarily due to the net loss of $99,931, a decrease in collateralized customer deposits of $7,933, and a decrease
in unearned revenues of $12,089, offset by depreciation and amortization charges of $73,884, a decrease in deferred costs| of
service activation of $8,800, an increase in accounts payable of $2,067, and miscellaneous income from the recovery of certain
inl ernal-use licensed software costs of $5,606.

Net cash provided by our investing activities was $8,508 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The net cash provided by dur
investing activities during this period was primarily due to purchases of short-term investments of $131,903 and capital expenditutes
of $59,031, offset by maturities of short-term investments of $191,894 and the recovery of internal-use software costs of $7,345.

Net cash provided by our financing activities was $8,005 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The net cash provided by our
firancing activities during this period resulted from purchases of our common stock by our employees under our stack
ptrchase plan and stock option plan totaling $8,170, offset by principal payments under capital lease obligations of $165.
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As of December 31, 2003, we had $65,376 in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and $48,969 in unrestricted short-term
investments. We expect to experience negative cash flow from operating and investing activities into 2004 until we add enough
end-users to our network to cover the fixed cost of maintaining our network and pay for our sales, marketing, general and
administrative expenses. Our future cash requirements for developing, deploying and enhancing our network and operating
our business, as well as our revenues, will depend on a number of factors including:

o the effect of the FCC’s Triennial Review order, our continuing ability to access line-shared telephone wires and other
traditional telephone company facilities at reasonable prices;

o the deployment of local voice services by providers other than the traditional telephone companies and our ability to bundle
our data services with the voice services of these alternative providers;

o the rate at which wholesalers and end-users purchase and pay for our services and the pricing of such services;
o the financial condition of our customers;

o the level of marketing required to acquire and retain customers and to continue to maintain a competitive position in the
marketplace;

o the rate at which we invest in engineering, development and intellectual property with respect to existing and future technology;
o the operational costs that we incur to install, maintain and repair end-user lines and our network as a whole;

o pending and any future litigation;

o network development schedules and associated costs; and

o the number of regions entered, the timing of entry and services offered.

In addition, we may wish to selectively pursue possible acquisitions of, or investments in businesses, technologies or products
complementary to ours in order to expand our geographic presence, broaden our product and service offerings and achieve
operating efficiencies. We may not have sufficient liquidity, or we may be unable to obtain additional financing on favorable
terms or at all, in order to finance such an acquisition or investment.

Our contractual debt, lease and purchase obligations as of December 31, 2003 for the next five years, and thereafter,
were as follows:

) 2004 2005-2006 2007-2008 Thereafter Total

Note payable to SBC $ - % 50,000 $ - $ - $ 50,000
Office leases 4,696 6,087 3,355 269 14,407
Other operating leases 303 209 - — 512
Purchase obligations 20,665 4,475 — - 25,140
§ 25664 % 60,771  § 3,355 $ 269 $ 90,059

We lease certain vehicles, equipment and office facilities under various noncancelable operating leases that expire at various
dates through 2009. The facility leases generally require us to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and
maintenance, and contain scheduled rent increases and certain other rent escalation clauses. Rent expense is reflected in our
consolidated financial statements on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

In 2002, we entered into a three-year, non-exclusive agreement with MC, for the right to provide certain network services to
us. We have a monthly minimum usage requirement which began in June 2002. The agreement expires in May 2005 and has a
minimum remaining aggregate purchase obligation of $11,390 as of December 31, 2003. Similarly, in 2002 and we entered into
a three-year, non-exclusive agreement with AT&T for the right to provide certain data services to us. We have an annual minimum
usage requirement which began in January 2002, The agreement expires in December 2004 and we have a minimum remaining
aggregate purchase obligation of approximately $11,500 as of December 31, 2003. In addition, in 2002, we entered into a four-
year, non-exclusive agreement with AT&T for the right to provide long-distance services to us. We have an annual minimum usage
requirement which began in April 2002. The agreement expires in March 2006 and has a minimum remaining aggregate usage
commitment of approximately $2,250 as of December 31, 2003.

We have in the past described our expectation of attaining cash flow sufficiency in mid-2004. Nonetheless, adverse business,
legal, regulatory or legislative developments, such as the inability to continue line-sharing, may require us to raise additional
financing, raise our prices or substantially decrease our cost structure. We also recognize that we may not be able to raise additional
capital. If we are unable to acquire additional capital on favorable terms if needed, or are required to raise it on terms that are
less satisfactory than we desire, our financial condition will be adversely affected.

Our 2004 business plan includes certain discretionary spending that is based on several assumptions, including growth of our
subscriber base with a reasonable per subscriber profit margin and improvements in productivity. If necessarily, we will curtait
this discretionary spending so that we can continue as a going concern at least through December 31, 2004 using only our
unrestricted cash, cash equivalent and short term investment balances in existence as of December 31, 2003,
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We include certain estimates, projections, and other forward-looking statements in our reports, in presentations to analy£ts
and others, and in other publicly available material. Future performance cannot be ensured. Actual results may differ materia}lly
fram those in forward-looking statements. The statements contained in this Annual Report that are not historical facts are “forward-
louking statements” (as such term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act), which
ca be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “estimates,” “projects,” “anticipates,” “expects;” “intends,”
“b:zlieves,” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy that

imolve risks and uncertainties. Examples of such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to:

Fo-ward-Looking Statements

o the impact of the FCC's decision in the Triennial Review and our ability to obtain access to line-sharing at rates that allow
us to sell consumer-grade services to new customers;

o expectations regarding the continuing deployment of local voice services by providers other than the traditional telephone
companies and our ability to bundle our data services with the voice services of these alternative providers;

e expectations regarding our ability to become cash-flow positive;
o expectations regarding the extent to which customers purchase our services;
o expectations regarding our relationships with our strategic partners and other potential third parties;

o expectations as to pricing for our services in the future;

e expectations regarding our margins on our service offerings;
o the possibility that we will increase our revenues; !
o plans to make strategic investments and acquisitions and the effect of such investments and acquisitions;

o estimates and expectations of future operating results, including expectations regarding when we anticipate operating pn
a cash flow positive basis, the adequacy of our cash reserves, our monthly cash burn rate and the number of installed lings;

¢ plans to develop and commercialize value-added services, like Voice over Internet Protocol;

o our anticipated capital expenditures;

e plans to enter into business arrangements with broadband-related service providers;

e the effect of regulatory changes;

s the effect of litigation currently pending; and

e other statements contained in this Annual Report regarding matters that are not historical facts.

These statements are only estimates or predictions and cannot be relied upon. We can give you no assurance that future results
wil be achieved. Actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks facing us or actual results differing from the
assumptions underlying such statements. Such risks and assumptions that could cause actual results to vary materially from
this future results indicated, expressed or implied in such forward-tooking statements include our ability to:

e adapt our business plan in response to further developments resulting from the FCC’s Triennial Review order;
e collect receivables from customers;

¢ retain end-users that are served by customers facing financial difficulties;

o successfully market our services to customers;

© generate customer demand for our services;

e successfully defend our company against litigation;

e successfully reduce our operating costs and overhead while continuing to provide good customer service;
° successfully continue to increase the number of business-grade lines;

o achieve favorable pricing for our services;

o respond to increasing competition;

° manage growth of our operations; and

e access regions and negotiate suitable interconnection agreements with the traditional telephone companies in the areas
where we provide service, all in a timely manner, at reasonable costs and on satisfactory terms that provide us with access
to line-sharing and remote terminals.
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All written and oral forward-looking statements made in connection with this Annual Report which are attributable to us or
persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the “Part |, Item 1. Business - Risk Factors” and other
cautionary statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any obligation to update information contained
in any forward-looking statement.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to financial market risk, including changes in interest and marketable equity security prices, relates primarily to
our investment portfolio and outstanding debt obligations. We typically do not attempt to reduce or eliminate our market exposure
on our investment securities because a substantial majority of our investments are in fixed-rate, short-term securities. We do
not have any derivative instruments. The fair value of our investment portfolio or related income would not be significantly impacted
by either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the fixed-rate, short-term nature of the
substantial majority of our investment portfolio. In addition, all of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2003 is
fixed-rate debt.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Covad Communications Group, Inc. |

We 1ave audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Covad Communications Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2003
and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. |

We :onducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards requir
thal we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of materiql
mis statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financiz‘zl
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,

as viell as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis far
our opinion.

In-o 4r opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Covad Communications Group, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. |
t
|
1

W+Wu? |

Walnut Creek, California
February 12, 2004
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

December 31,
2003 2002

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,376 $ 94,416
Short-term investments 48,969 108,076
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,892 2,576
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4,951 at December 31, 2003

($5,388 at December 31, 2002) 28,528 21,746
Unbilled revenues 5,127 3,921
Other receivables 637 1,385
Inventories 5,335 5,096
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,761 5,524

Total current assets 160,625 242,740
Property and equipment, net 94,279 108,737
Collocation fees and other intangible assets, net of accumulated

amortization of $49,698 at December 31, 2003

($32,372 at December 31, 2002) 40,848 43,284
investments in unconsolidated affiliates - 1,026
Deferred costs of service actiyation 31,486 40,286
Deferred customer incentives 4,431 3,540
QOther long-term assets 3,042 2,548

TOTAL ASSETS S 334,711 $ 442,161
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable 12,982 10,915
Accrued compensation 21,661 12,774
Current portion of capital lease obligations - 165
Accrued collocation and network service fees 18,714 16,537
Accrued transaction-based taxes 35,268 45,426
Accrued interest 5,683 5,683
Accrued market development funds and customer incentives 7,024 6,422
Unresolved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings 7,378 7,381
Other accrued tiabilities 5,607 8,581

Total current liabilities 114,317 113,884
Long-term debt 50,000 50,000
Collateralized customer deposit 60,258 68,191
Deferred gain resulting from deconsolidation of subsidiary 53,963 53,972
Unearned revenues 61,726 73,815

TOTAL LIABILITIES 340,264 359,862
Commitments and contingencies
Stockhotders’ Equity (Deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;

no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002 - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 590,000,000 shares authorized;

230,163,012 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003

(223,182,511 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002) 230 223
Common stock - Class B, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized;

no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 and 2002 - -
Additional paid-in capital 1,624,489 1,612,319
Deferred stock-based compensation (52) (160)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (953) (747)
Accumulated deficit (1,629,267) (1,529,336)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (5,553) 82,299

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 5 334,711 $ 442,161

See accompanying notes.
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Cornsolidated Statements of Operations

(AMO INTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Revinues, net
Operating expenses:
Netwaork and product costs
Sales, marketing, general and administrative
Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries)
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Provision for restructuring expenses
Frovision for long-lived asset impairment
L tigation-retated expenses, net
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
Los:; from operations
Othar income (expense):
Interest income
Realized gain (loss) on short-term investments
Cther than temporary losses on short-term investments
Provision for impairment of investments in unconsolidated
affiliates
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates
€ain (loss) on disposal of investments in unconsolidated
affiliates
Interest expense (contractual interest expense was
$142,356 during the year ended December 31, 2001)
Miscellaneous income (expense), net
Reorganization expenses, net
Cain on extinguishment of debt
(ther income (expense), net
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Basic and diluted per share amounts:
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Vleighted average common shares used in computing
basic and diluted per share amounts

See accompanying notes.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
3 388,851 $ 383,496  $ 332,596
283,401 298,336 461,875‘
132,431 150,373 199,908
99 319 (65%)
56,559 112,438 137,920
17,325 14,650 12,919J
1,235 - 14.364}
- - 11,988‘
— (11,628) 31,16C
491,050 564,488 869,476
(102,199} (180,992) (536,880)
2,105 5,122 24,593
- a7) 5,909
|
- - (1,319
747) (388) (20,069)
(279) (806) (13,76%)
- (636) 178
|
(5,526) (5,581) (92,782)
6,715 (1,530) (2,218)
- — (62,62(:})
— - 1,033,727
2,268 (3,836) 881,638
$ (99,931 $ (184,828)  § 344,758
$ (0.44)  § (0.84) % 1.94
224,949,891 219,743,662 177,347,193
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (deficit)

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Balances at December 31, 2000

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Repurchase of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon emergence
from Chapter 11 bankruptcy

Deconsolidation of subsidiary

Stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock for business acquisition

Reversal of deferred stock-based compensation

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

Unrealized tosses on available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation

Net income

Balances at December 31, 2001

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

issuance of commaon stock following emergence from
Chapter 11 bankruptcy

Issuance of warrants

Stock-based compensation

Deferred stock-based compensation

Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based
compensation

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

Foreign currency translation

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2002

Issuance of common stock

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of options

Issuance of warrants

Stock-based compensation

Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based
compensation

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities

Net loss

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 31, 2003

See accompanying notes.
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Common Stock

Shares Amount
171,937,452 $ 172
1,010,000 1
4,100,979 4
(67,500) -
37,292,800 37
2,268,481 2
216,542,212 216
5,417,251 6
1,005,937 1
217,111 —
223,182,511 223
1,996,222 2
4,984,279 5
230,163,012 $ 230




Notes Accumulated Total
Additional Deferred Receivable Other Stockholders’ {
Paiq-ln Stock-Bas.ed From Comprehensive Accumulate.d qui_ty '

Capital Compensation Stockholders Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)

$ . 1,509,365 $  (3,067) $  (423) $ 556 S  (1,689,266) S (182,663)
. 579 - - - - 580
2,109 - - - - 2,113

(172) - - - - (172)

93,568 - - - - 93,605 }

-~ - 423 - - 423

439 - - - - 439

2,062 - - - - 2,064

(1,213) 1,213 - - - —

- 1,597 - - - 1,597

- - - (2,327) - {2,327)

- - - (588) - (588)

o ~ - — - 344,758 344,758
1,606,737 (257) - (2,359) (2,344,508) 259,829
4,303 - - - - 4,309

398 - - - - 399

261 — - - — 261

3,790 - - - - 3,790

285 - - - - 285

290 (290) ~ - - -

(3.745) 387 - - - (3,358}

- — - 270 - 270

- — - 1,342 - 1,342 ‘

o — — - - (184,828) (184,828}
1,612,319 (260) - (747 (1.529.336) 82,299‘
1,721 - - - - 1,723

6,453 - - - - 6,458

2,640 - - - - 2,640

1,356 - - -~ — 1,356

- 108 - - - 108

— — - (206) — (206

- - - - (99.931) (99,931

. $ 1,624,480 $ (52) $ - $ (953)  $  (1,629,267)  $ (5,553

|
i
{
|
|
i
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS)

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Operatiﬁg Activities:

Net income (loss) $ (99.931) (184,828)  $ 344,758
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net

|

cash used in operating activities:

Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries) 99 319 (658)
Depreciation and amortization 73,884 127,088 150,839
Loss on disposition of property and equipment 112 1,712 2,679
Non-cash reorganization expenses — - 42,856
Non-cash litigation-related expenses - (11,628) 25,801
Pravisian for long-lived asset impairment - - 11,988
Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based

compensation, net 108 (3,358) 1,597
Other stock-based compensation 1,367 305 439
Other non-cash charges 1,749 803 -
Accretion of interest on investments (1,090) (209) (7,136)
Accretion of debt discount and amortization of

deferred debt issuance costs — - 20,845
Other than temporary losses on short-term investments - - 1,311
Provision for impairment of investments in

unconsolidated affiliates 747 388 10,069
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates 279 806 13,769
Miscellaneous income from internal-use software

license royalties (5,606) -~ -
(Gain) loss on disposal of investment in

unconsolidated affiliates - 636 (178)
Gain on extinguishment of debt - — (1,033,727)

Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (316) 6,627 (9,103)

Accounts receivable (6,881) 1,180 532

Unbilled revenues (1,206) 1,043 2,282

Inventories (239) 2,153 6,748

Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,995 4,159 3,163

Deferred costs of service activation 8,800 17,676 (5,131)

Accounts payable 2,067 (4,927) (53,652)

Unresolved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings (3) (2,930) 22,200

Collateralized customer deposit (7,933) (6,809) -

Accrued restructuring expenses - - 2,024

Other current liabilities (1,466) (1,366) (22,291)

Unearned revenues (12,089) (24,882) 12,777

Net cash used in operating activities (45,553) (76,042) (455,199)

See accompanying notes.
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Investing Activities:

Cash relinquished as a result of deconsolidating a subsidiary

Pur :hase of short-term investments

Maturities of short-term investments

Salr of short-term investments

Recemption of restricted investments

Pur:hase of restricted investments in connection with
tankruptcy proceedings

Rec emption of restricted investments in connection with
bankruptcy proceedings

Purchase of property and equipment

Prozeeds from sale of property and equipment

Recovery of internal-use software costs

Payment of collocation fees and purchase of ather
intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of investments in unconsolidated
affiliates

Decrease (increase) in other long-term assets
Ilet cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing Activities:

Proceeds from collateralized customer deposit

Prcceeds from issuance of long-term debt

Principal payments of long-term debt in connection with
lhankruptcy proceedings

Other principal payments of long-term debt

Priacipal payments under capital lease obligations

Prc ceeds from common stock issuance, net of repurchase
Vet cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Ne: decrease in cash and cash equivalents

-Cassh and cash equivatents at beginning of year
Zash and cash equivalents at end of year

Suoplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Caish paid during the year for interest

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing
and Financing Activities:
Eq sipment purchased through capital leases

Se= accompanying notes.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2007
-~ - {1,599)
(131,903) (237,088) (638,096)
191,894 165,526 547,477
- 40,017 329,458
- - 26,875
- - (257,202)
— — 270,698
(44,142) (22,782) (15,732)
181 13,451 1,28¢
7,345 814 2,000
{14,889) (3.782) (7.940)
- 3,360 1,225
22 371 {206)
8,508 (40,113) 258,238
- - 75,000
- — 50,000
- - (271,708}
- - (8,393
(165) (328) (2,089)
8,170 3,089 2,521
8,005 2,761 (153,66p)
(29,040) (113,394) (350,63p}
94,416 207,810 558,440
65,376 $ 94,416 $ 207,810
5,510 $ 80 $ 68,051
— $ 482 $ T
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(AMOUNTS (N THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

1. Mature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Qrganization, Business and Basis of Presentation

ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS Covad Communications Group, Inc. (“Covad”) is a provider of high-speed connectivity services.
These services include a range of high-speed, high-capacity Internet and network access services utilizing digital subscriber
line (“DSL”) technology and related value-added services. Covad’s high-speed connectivity services are sold to businesses and
consumers directly and indirectly through Internet service providers (“ISPs”), enterprises, telecommunications carriers and other
customers. These services are sold directly to business and consumer end-users through Covad’s field sales force, telephone
sales, third party referrals and Covad’s Web site. ISPs purchase Covad’s services in order to provide high-speed Internet access
to their business and consumer end-users. Enterprise customers purchase services directly or indirectly from Covad to provide
their employees with high-speed remote access to the enterprise’s local area network. Other telecommunications carriers purchase
Covad's services for resale to their ISP affiliates, Internet users and enterprise customers.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covad and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”), except for the accounts of BlueStar Communications Group, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (collectively, “BlueStar”), which have been excluded from the Company’s consolidated financial statements
effective June 25, 2001 (Note 4). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s 2004 business plan includes certain discretionary spending that is based on several assumptions, including
growth of the Company’s subscriber base with a reasonable per subscriber profit margin and improvements in productivity. if
necessary, the Company will curtail this discretionary spending so that it can continue as a going concern at least through December
31, 2004 using only the Company’s unrestricted cash, cash equivalent and short-term investment balances in existence as of
December 31, 2003. Additionally; on August 21, 2003, the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) issued its order in the
Triennial Review of its rules for network unbundling obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (“ILECs”). Among other
things, that order will phase out the FCC rule requiring line-sharing over a three-year period. The ultimate impact of the Triennial
Review order on the Company’s business, which currently relies to a large extent on line-sharing to serve the Company’s consumer
end-users, will depend on the Company’s ability to negotiate fair and reasonable prices substantially lower than the whole loop
cost that will ultimately be permitted under the FCC’s rules. The Company does not believe the FCC’s revised unbundling rules
will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern at least through December 31, 2004,
but the Company’s operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected over time if the new rules result in
substantially higher prices for access to the ILECs’ telephone lines.

During the year ended December-31, 2003, a matter was identified related to prior financiat reporting periods that necessitated
the recording of additional expense. Such matter was retated to the modification of stock options granted to certain employees
in prior years, These modifications occurred upon the separation of such employees from the Company, principally during
2000. Accordingly, for the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded additional stock-based compensation
expense in the amount of $1,236 ($0.01 per share). Such amount is reflected in the Company’s sales, marketing, general
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003. The Company does not believe this amount is material to
the periods in which it should have been recorded, nor does it believe it is material to its consolidated operating results for
the year ended December 31, 2003. This adjustment is principally related to 2000, the impact of which would have been to increase
sales, marketing, general and administrative expenses and net loss by $1,236 ($0.01 per share) for such year. As explained below,
certain other adjustments were recorded during 2002 that related to prior periods. $1,139 of such amounts pertained to 2000,
the effect of which would have been to decrease the Company’s 2000 net loss by $0.01 per share. The aggregate effect of
the adjustments recorded during the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 to the previously reported results of operations
for the year ended December 31, 2000 would be to increase net loss by $97, or $0.00 per share, for such year if these adjustments
had been recorded in 2000.

As part of the Company’s continuing evaluation of its network assets during the year ended December 31, 2002, certain matters
were identified related to prior financial reporting periods that necessitated the recording of adjustments to certain expenses.
Such matters were related principally to (i) changes in the Company’s network configuration, which necessitated reductions
of the remaining estimated useful'lives of certain network equipment, (ii) the capitalization of certain network and product costs
that should have been charged to operating expenses when they were incurred and (iii) various restructuring activities that
resulted in the abandonment of certain network equipment and leasehold improvements, Accordingly, for the year ended December
31, 2002, the Company recorded additional (i) depreciation expense of $6,989 ($1,306 of which was recorded during the fourth
quarter of 2002), (ii) network and product costs of $2,635 ($1,930 of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002),
(iii) loss on the disposition of property and equipment of $635 (all of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002),
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and (iv) interest expense of $51 (all of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002). In addition, as part of the Company
financial statement ctose process for the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company discovered that it had overstated it
amurtization expense relating to non-cash deferred stock-based compensation in prior periods by $3,213. Therefore, for th
yea- ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded reductions of (i) network and products costs of $320 (all of which wa
recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002) and (ii) sales, marketing, general and administrative expense of $2,893 (all of whic
was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002). Furthermore, as part of the Company’s review of its December 31, 2002 ta
accruals, it determined that it had overstated its transaction-based tax and other tax accruals in prior periods by $4,804, which
the Company adjusted during the year ended December 31, 2002 (all of which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2002).
The adjustment was primarily driven by various complex rules surrounding the Company’s estimated liability to the Federal Universa
Serice Fund (“FUSF”). The Company does not believe any of the aforementioned amounts are material to the periods in whic|

the's should have been recorded, nor does it believe the prospective correction of such amounts during the year ended
December 31, 2002 is material to its consolidated operating results for such year (the prospective correction of the aforementioneld
amaunts relating to prior periods increased the Company’s 2002 consolidated net loss. by $2,294, or $0.01 per share, and decrease[d
the Company’s 2001 net loss by $3,433 or $0.02 per share).

“n © »nn
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Surwmary of Significant Accounting Policies

ust. OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actnal results may differ materially from those estimates. The Company’s critical accounting estimates include (i) revenue recogniticn
anc the establishment of accounts receivable allowances (Notes 1 and 2), (ji) inventory valuation (Note 1), (iii) reorganizati(in
anc restructuring liabilities (Notes 3 and 4), (iv) useful life assignments and impairment evaluations associated with property
anc equipment and intangible assets (Notes 1 and g), (v) anticipated outcomes of legal proceedings and other disputes (Notjs
3, 4 and 10), (vi) transaction-based tax and employment-related tax liabilities (Note 10) and (vii) valuation allowances associated
with deferred tax assets (Note 12). i

CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturijy
of three months or less from the date of original issuance to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, cash
eqLivalents consisted principally of money market mutual funds. All of the Company’s investments are classified as available-
fg7:sale and stated at their fair market values, which are determined based on quoted-market prices, The Company’s short-term:
inviestments had original maturities greater than three months, but tess than one year, from the batance sheet dates. The Company
detzrmines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at the end
of rach period. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a separate component of
sto::kholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are determined based on the specific identificatign
of the cost of securities sold. i

Short-term investments consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains tosses Fair Yalue
U.S. Government agency securities $ 38,961 $ 7 $ — $ 38,968
Certificates of deposit 10,000 1 — 10,001
Total available-for-sale securities $ 48,961 $ 8 $ — $ 48,969

December 31, 2002

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.£. Government agency securities $ 107,867 $ 209 $ — $ 108,076
Total available-for-sale securities $ 107,867 $ 209 $ — $ 108,076

As of December 31, 2003, the contractual maturities of all available-for-sale securities are between January 2004 ar&d
September 2004.
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Realized gains and losses resulting from the sale of available-for-sale securities were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Gains $ - $ - $ 6,373
Losses — (17) (464)
$ — $ (17) % 5,909

RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company held $2,892 and $2,576,
respectively, in money market mutual funds, which (i) collateralize irrevocable letters of credit pertaining to certain operating
lease commitments (Note 7) or (ii) are restricted for the payment of unresolved bankruptcy claims (Note 2).

OTHER INVESTMENTS Other investments consist primarily of strategic investments in privately held entities. These investments
in privately held companies are accounted far under either the cost or equity methods of accounting, depending on the Company’s
ability to significantly influence these entities.

The Company performs periodic reviews of its investments for impairment. Impairment write-downs create a new carrying value
for the investment and the Company does not record subsequent increases in fair value in excess of the new carrying value for
these types of privately held investments accounted for under the cost or equity methods. The Company recorded write-downs
of $747, $388 and $10,069 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to impairments
of its privately held investments,

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK, SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS, KEY SUPPLIERS AND RELATED PARTIES Financial instruments
that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-
term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s cash and investment policies limit cash equivalents,
short-term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents to short-term, investment grade instruments, Cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents are held primarily with various domestic and Canadian
financial institutions with high credit standings. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its cash, cash
equivalents or restricted cash and cash equivalents. However, during the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company
recognized other than temporary losses on certain available-for-sale securities aggregating $1,311. No similar losses were recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002.

The Company conducts business primarily with I1SPs, enterprise customers and telecommunications carrier customers in the
United States. As more fully described in Note 2, the Company has concentrations of credit risk with a small number of customers,
and certain of the Company’s customers were expériencing financial difficulties as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and
were not current in their payments for the Company’s services at those dates. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. An allowance is maintained for estimated credit
losses. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company wrote-off certain accounts receivable
balances aggregating $385, $2,652 and $10,371, respectively, against the allowance for credit losses. During the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company recovered $374, $684 and $2,037, respectively, of accounts receivable balances
previously written-off against such allowance.

The Company is dependent on a limited number of suppliers for certain equipment used to provide its services. The Company
has generally been able to obtain an adequate supply of such equipment. However, an extended interruption in the supply of
equipment currently obtained from its suppliers could adversely affect the Company’s business and results of operations.

The Company’s former vice-chairman and former interim chief executive officer, Frank Marshall, who was also a member of the
Company’s board of directors from October 1997 to December 2002, was a minority stockholder and former member of the board
of directors of one of the Company’s former ISP customers, InternetConnect, which filed for bankruptcy protection in 2001 (Note 6).

The Company acquired an equity interest in a supplier during 1999 and disposed of this interest in 2001. Purchases from this
supplier totaled $8,346, $5,774 and $13,928 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
Company also purchased certain products from a company in which Mr. Marshall serves as a director. Purchases from this vendor
totaled $269, $258 and $140 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

A member of the Company’s Board of Directors, Richard Jalkut, is the President and CEQ of TelePacific, one of the Company’s
resellers. The Company recognized revenues from TelePacific of $611, $1,311 and $1,822 for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. Another member of the Company’s Board of Directors, L. Dale Crandall, is also a director of BEA
Systems, one of the Company’s vendors. The Company paid $2,232, $121 and $214 to BEA Systems during the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company believes the terms of these transactions are comparable to transactions that would likely be negotiated with clearly
independent parties.

INVENTORIES (nventories, consisting primarily of customer premises equipment, are stated at the lower of cost, determined
using the “first-in, first-out” method, or market.
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PRCPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment are recorded at cost, subject to adjustments for impairment, and depreciated
or amortized using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Lea;;ehold improvements 5 years or the term of the lease, whichever is less
Computer equipment 2 to 5 years
Coniputer software 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 2to 5 years
Network and communications equipment 2t0 5 years

The Company incurs significant costs associated with internal-use software, which consists principally of the Company’s operational
support systems (“0SS”) software and Web site. The Company charges the costs of research to expense as they are incurred
including pre-development efforts related to determining technological or product alternatives, and costs incurred for trainin
and maintenance. Software and Web site development costs, which include direct costs such as labor and contractors, are capitalize
whe n they can be segregated from other non-capitalizable labor activities and when it is probable that the project will be complete
and the software or Web site will be used as intended. Costs incurred for upgrades and enhancements to the Company’s softwar
or Vfeb site are capitalized when it is probable that such efforts will result in additional and significant functionality. Capitalize
software and Web site costs are amortized to expense over the estimated useful life of the software or Web site. Amortizatio
of internal-use software costs was $3,336, $6,030 and $9,433 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 200
respectively. The Company accounts for incidental sales of licenses to its 0SS software on a cost recovery basis (Note 6).

= QOO O atg S

The Company leased certain equipment under capital lease agreements. Assets and liabilities under capital leases are recorde:‘d
at the lesser of the present value of the aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase options,
or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital leases are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or useft
life of the assets. Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation and amortization expense.

COILOCATION FEES AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS Collocation fees represent nonrecurring fees paid to othe
telecommunications carriers for the right to use central office space to house equipment owned or leased by the Company. Sug
norrecurring fees are capitalized as intangible assets and amortized over five years using the straight-line method. Th
Corapany’s collocation agreements also require periodic recurring payments, which are charged to expense as incurred. All sud
collocation agreements are cancelable by the Company at any time.

o ® T =

Other intangible assets consist of a customer list acquired from a third party (Note 6}. Such customer list is being amortized
over twenty-four months using the straight-line method.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company’s estimated annual amortization expenses associated with collocation fees and other
intz ngible assets for the next five years were as follows:

2064 $ 17,236
20¢5 . $ 14,769
20c6 $ 5,067
2007 $ 2,332
20c8 $ 1,444

=

CH/ANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE In addition to the changes in accounting estimate described above under “Basis
Pressentation,” effective January 1, 2001, the Company reduced the remaining estimated useful lives of alt long-lived assets, excluding
a building and leasehold improvements, that previousty had estimated useful lives in excess of five years such that the residua
balinces and any subsequent additions are now depreciated or amortized over five years using the straight-line method. Th
chznge in accounting estimate decreased the company’s net income by $14,006 ($0.08 per share) for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

wn —

IMEAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS The Company periodically evaluates potential impairments of its long-lived assets, includirfg
intangibles. When the Company determines that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upan
the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, the Company evaluates the projected undiscounted cash flows related
to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, the Company measures the impairment usiqg
dis:ounted cash flows or other methods of determining fair value.

Lor g-lived assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of cost or fair value iess estimated costs of disposal.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION The Company accounts for stock-based awards to (i) employees (including non-employee directors)
usig the intrinsic value method and (ii) non-employees using the fair value method.
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Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals the market price
of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. The following table illustrates the pro
forma effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 had
the Company applied the fair value method to account for stock-based awards to employees:

2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), as reported $ (99,9310 % (184,828) % 344,758
Stock-based employee compensation expense (reversal)
included in the determination of net income (loss), as reported 1,344 (3,112) 1,849
Stock-based employee compensation expense that would have
been included in the determination of net income (loss) if the
fair value method had been applied to all awards (12,791) (28,471) (66,751)
Pro forma net income (loss) $ (111,378) $ (216,411)  $ 279,856
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share:

As reported $ (0.44) % (084 % 1.94

Pro forma 5 {0.50) $ (0.98) $ 1.58

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock-based awards to employees was $1.13, $0.83 and $1.38 per share during
the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Such weighted-average grant date fair values were estimated
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the assumptions listed in Note 13 under the caption “Pro Forma Stock-
Based Compensation Information.”

ADVERTISING c0STS The Company charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. Advertising expense for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $7,650, $27,083 and $16,467, respectively.

The Company makes market development funds (“MDF”) available to certain customers for the reimbursement of co-branded
advertising expenses and other purposes. To the extent that MDF is used by the Company’s customers for co-branded
advertising, and (i) the customers provide the Company with third-party evidence of such co-branded advertising as required
by Company policy and (i) the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of its portion of the advertising, such amounts
are charged to advertising expense as incurred. Other amounts payable to customers relating to rebates, customer incentives
and nonqualified MDF activities are recorded as reductions of revenues as incurred.

INCOME TAXES The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount
expected to be realized.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of
the Company’s financial instruments:

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS The carrying amounts
of these assets approximate their respective fair values, which were determined based on quoted market prices.

BORROWINGS The fair values of borrowings, including long-term debt and capital lease obligations, are estimated based on
quoted market prices, where available, or by discounting the future cash flows using estimated borrowing rates at which similar
types of borrowing arrangements with the same remaining maturities could be obtained by the Company. The aggregate fair
value of the Company’s long-term debt was $58,646 as of December 31, 2003, as compared to the aggregate carrying amount
of $50,000 as of such date. The aggregate fair value of the Company’s long-term debt and capital lease obligations was $59,140
as of December 31, 2002, as compared to the aggregate carrying amount of $50,165 as of such date.

FOREIGN CURRENCY The functional currency of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates is the local currency. The investments
in these unconsolidated affiliates are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and the Company’s equity in the
income or losses of these affiliates is translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments
are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive loss,” a separate component of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

PER SHARE AMOUNTS Basic pershare amounts are computed by using the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s
comman stock, less the weighted average number of common shares subject to repurchase, outstanding during the period.

Diluted per share amounts are determined in the same manner as basic per share amounts, except that the number of
weighted average common shares used in the computations includes dilutive common shares subject to repurchase and is increased
assuming the (i) exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method and (i} conversion of dilutive
convertible debt instruments. However, diluted net income (loss) per share is the same as basic net income (loss) per share in
the periods presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations because loss from operations is the
“control number” in determining whether potential common shares are included in the calculation. Consequently, the impact
of (i) including common shares subject to repurchase, (ii} the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants and
(iii) the assumed conversion of convertible debt instruments was not dilutive to loss from operations.
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The following table presents the calculation of weighted average common shares used in the computations of basic and diluted
per share amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2007

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 224,949,891 219,750,287 177,489,09@:

Les:; weighted average shares of common stock subject |

t> repurchase - 6,625 141,897
Weighted average common shares used in computing

tasic per share amounts 224,949,891 219,743,662 177,347,193

T
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSs) Significant components of the Company’s comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

Cumulative Year ended December 31, .
Amounts 2003 2002 2001 |
Net income (loss) $  (1,629,267) % (99,931) $ (184,828) $ 344,758
Unraalized gains (losses) on available-
far-sale securities 9 (206) 270 (2,327)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (962) — 1,342 (588),
Coriprehensive income (loss) $ (1,630,220 $ (100,137) $ (183,216) $ 341,843 |

]

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS On May 15, 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards {(“SFAS™) No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liahilities and Equity” SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for classifying and measuring as liabilities certain financic‘ll
instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have characteristics of both liabilities and equity, such as mandatorily
red :emable equity instruments, SFAS No. 150 must be applied immediately to instruments entered into or modified after M ‘y
31, 2003 and to all other instruments that exist as of the beginning of the first interim financial reporting period beginning after
Jun 2 15, 2003, except for mandatorily redeemable instruments of non-public companies, to which the provisions of SFAS No.
150 must be applied in fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2003. The application of SFAS No. 150 to pre-existing instrumenés
should be recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 had no effe‘ct

on *he Company’s consolidated financial statements. ‘

In J.anuary 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an interpretation
of £.ccounting Research Bulleting No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” FIN 46 applies to any business enterprise that
has a controlling interest, contractual relationship or other business relationship with a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and
estiablishes guidance for the consolidation of VIEs that function to support the activities of the primary beneficiary. FIN 46 was
effe ctive March 31, 2004 for enterprises with VIEs created after January 31, 2003, and will be effective March 31, 2004 for enterprises
witih VIEs created before February 1, 2003. The Company does not expect the adoption of FIN 46 will have an effect on ifs

consolidated financial statements. ‘
|

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS Ne. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure]”
SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transitign
far an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In additio(ll,
SF£S No. 148 amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure of the effects of an entity’s
accounting policy with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reported operating results, including per share amounts,
in innual and interim financial statements. The disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 were effective immediately upa
issiiance in 2002. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has no immediate plans to adopt the fair value method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation.

=

In tlovember 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a final consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting
for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” which is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods
beginning after june 15, 2003. Under EITF Issue No. 00-21, revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be
div ded into separate units of accounting under certain circumstances. The Company adopted EITF Issue No. 0o-21 on July 1,
2003, and such adoption did not have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Inc uding Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 requires certain guarantees to be recorded at fair valu\F

wh ch is different from current practice, which is generally to record a liability only when a loss is probable and reasonably estimab
FIN No. 45 also requires a guarantor to make significant new disclosures, even when the likelihood of making any paymen‘s
under the guarantee is remote. The disclosure provisions of FIN No. 45 were effective immediately in 2002. The Company adopted
the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 on a prospective basis with respect to guarantees issued or
modified after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 had no effert
on :he Company’s consolidated financial statements. However, some of the Company’s contracts with customers have provisions
that would require the Company to indemnify them in the event that the Company’s services infringe upon a third party’s intellectulal

prcperty rights (Note 10).

|
|
|
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On lanuary 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with an Exit or Disposal Activity.”
SFAS No. 146 revised the accounting for exit and disposal activities under EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity {Including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring),” by extending
the period in which expenses related to restructuring activities are reported. A commitment to a plan to exit an activity or dispose
of long-lived assets is no longer sufficient to record a one-time charge for most restructuring activities. Instead, companies record
exit or disposal costs when they are incurred and can be measured at fair value. In addition, the resultant liabilities are subsequently
adjusted for changes in estimated cash flows. SFAS No. 146 is effective prospectively for exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. Companies may not restate previously issued financial statements for the effect of the provisions of SFAS
No. 146, and liabilities that a company previously recorded under EITF Issue No. 94-3 are grandfathered. The adoption of SFAS
No. 146 had no effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from
Extinguishment of Debt,” which required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated and, if material,
classified as an extraordinary item, net of related income tax effect. SFAS No. 145 requires that gains or losses from
extinguishment of debt be classified as extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB Opinion No. 30. Upon adoption
of SFAS No. 145 in 2003, the Company reclassified the gain on extinguishment of debt that it recognized in 2001, which was
previousty classified as an extraordinary item, as an element of other income (expense) in the accompanying 2001 consolidated
statement of operations.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 requires
that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable
estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the
long-lived asset. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 had no effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS Certain balances in the Company's 2002 and 2001 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified
to conform to the presentation in 2003.

2. Revenue Recognition

Revenues from recurring service are recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement between the Company and
the customer exists, (ii) service has been provided to the customer, (i) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and
(iv) collectibitity of the sales prices is reasonably assured. Revenues earned for which the customer has not been billed are
recorded as “Unbilled revenues™in the consolidated balance sheets. Amounts billed in advance of providing service are deferred
and recorded as an element of the consolidated balance sheets caption “Unearned revenues.” Included in revenues are FUSF
charges billed to customers aggregating $4,993, $8,233 and $13,277 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

The Company recognizes up-front fees associated with service activation over the expected term of the customer relationship,
which is presently estimated to be 24 months, using the straight-line method. The Company treats the incremental direct costs
of service activation (which consist principally of customer premises equipment, service activation fees paid to other
telecommunications companies and sales commissions) as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the up-front
fees that are deferred, and such deferred incremental direct costs are amortized to expense using the straight-line method over
24 months.

The Company had over 300 wholesale customers as of December 31, 2003. However, for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, the Company’s 30 largest wholesale customers in each such year collectively comprised 93.3%, 93.3% and 88.5%
of the Company’s total wholesale net revenues, respectively, and 71.6%, 79.5% and 76.0% of the Company’s total net revenues,
respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, receivables from these customers collectively comprised 70.3% and 75.3%,
respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts receivable balance.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, Earthlink, Inc. and AT&T, two of the Company’s wholesale customers that are included
in the Company’s Covad Strategic Partnerships (“CSP”) business segment (Note 14), accounted for 21.5% and 12.5%, respectively,
of the Company’s total net revenues. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, EarthLink, Inc. accounted for 20.0%
and 17.5%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, receivables from these customers
comprised 20.9% and 17.1%, and 25.9% and 11.7%, respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts receivable balance. No other
individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total net revenues in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

Some of the Company’s ISP and telecommunications carrier customers are experiencing financial difficulties. During the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, certain of these customers either () were not current in their payments for the Company’s
services or (i) were essentially current in their payments but, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the financial condition
of such customers deteriorated significantly and certain of them have filed for bankruptcy protection. Based on this information,
the Company determined that the collectibility of revenues from these customers was not reasonably assured or its ability to
retain some or all of the payments received from certain of these customers that have filed for bankruptcy protection was not
reasonably assured. Accordingly, the Company classified this group of customers as “financially distressed” for revenue
recognition purposes. Revenues from financially distressed customers that have not filed for bankruptcy protection are
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reccgnized when cash for those services is collected, assuming all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, but
only after the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable balances. Payments received from financially distresse
cusiomers during a defined period prior to their filing of petitions for bankruptcy protection are recorded in the consolidate
balence sheet caption “Unearned revenues” if the Company’s ability to retain these payments is not reasonably assured. ‘
Anumber of the Company’s customers are currently in bankruptcy proceedings. Revenues from these customers accounted for
app oximately 1.3%, 5.6% and 7.1% of the Company’s total net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 an‘i
2001, respectively. Although MCl filed for bankruptcy protection on July 21, 2002, the Company continued to recognize revenues
from MCl on an accrual basis during 2002 and 2003 based on its specific facts and circumstances in relation to the revenue
recc gnition criteria described above. Consequently, the disclosures in the following paragraph related to financially distressed
cusiomers exclude amounts pertaining to MC! because the Company has not presently classified it as a financially distressed
customer for revenue recognition purposes. The Company continues to attempt to migrate end-users from some of its financialt
dist‘essed customers to the extent it is legally and operationally feasible.

Dur'ng the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company issued billings to its financially distressed customers
agg egating $5,139, $42,881 and $74,928, respectively, that were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements at the time of such billings. However, in accordance with the revenue
reccgnition policy described above, the Company recognized revenues from certain of these customers when cash was
collacted aggregating $4,367, $47,609 and $29,003 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
somr e of which relates to services provided in prior periods. In addition, revenues and the provision for bad debts (bad debt
reccveries) recognized during the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 include cash collected totaling $827 and $4,427
respectively, from certain bankrupt customers that the Company received prior to the periods in which they were ultimatel
reccgnized. The Company recorded these payments as unearned revenues in the accompanying consolidated balance shee
as cf those dates because its ability to retain the payments was not reasonably assured at such dates. However, as a result
subsequent developments in the bankruptcy proceedings of such customers, the Company determined that its ability to retai
thece payments was reasonably assured prior to December 31, 2003. Consequently, the Company recognized these payment;
as ravenues and bad debt recoveries, respectively, during 2003 and 2002. No such payments were recognized as revenues ar
bad debt recoveries during the year ended December 31, 2001. The Company had contractual receivables from its financially
distressed customers totaling $1,093 and $6,031 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, that are not reflected in thF
accompanying consoclidated balance sheet as of such date. |

The Company has obtained information indicating that some of its customers, including MCI, who (i) were essentially curre ‘t

in their payments for the Company’s services prior to December 31, 2003, or (i) have subsequently paid all or significant portionrs
of the respective amounts recorded as accounts receivable as of December 31, 2003, may become financially distressed. Revenue,
from these customers accounted for approximately 11.6%, 34.6% and 14.2% of the Company’s total net revenues for the yea
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, receivables from these custome]i
le
r

T oy .

corr prised 14.7% and 31.8% of the Company’s gross accounts receivable balance, respectively. If these customers are unab
to demonstrate their ability to pay for the Company’s services in a timely manner in periods ending subsequent to Decemb
31, 2003, the Company, based on its revenue recognition policy described above, will recognize revenue when cash is collecte&g.

The Company has obtained persuasive evidence indicating that the financial condition of one of its customers, which was designatet
as f nancially distressed in 2000, improved significantly during the year ended December 31, 2002, principally as a result of
cap tal infusion during this period. Consequently, the Company concluded that collection of its billings to this customer wa“s
now reasonably assured. Therefore, the Company resumed the recognition of revenues from this customer on an accrual basi
during 2002, which resulted in the recognition of revenues in the amount of approximately $1,542 that relate to services rendereE
in periods ended prior to January 1, 2002. Similarly, the Company resumed the recognition of revenue on an accrual basis fdr
another wholesale customer during 2002. The Company did not, however, recognize additional revenue from services rendere

in p-ior periods because this customer was current in its payments. No similar amounts were recognized during the other periods
repurted in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. (

The Company has billing disputes with some of its customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of business in the
telecommunications industry and their impact on the Company’s accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimateh
basad on historical experience. In addition, certain revenues are subject to refund if the end-user terminates service within thirty
days of service activation. Accordingly, the Company maintains allowances, through charges to revenues, based on the
Conipany’s estimates of (i) the ultimate resolution of the disputes (ii) future service cancellations. These charges to revenues
amuounted to $2,886, $2,322 and $11,178 during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During thle
yea s ended December 31,2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company wrote-off certain accounts receivable balances aggregating $1,557,
$3,748 and - $6,701, respectively, against the allowance for customer disputes and service cancellations. During the years ende[d
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company recovered $1,282 and $2,145, respectively, of accounts receivable balances
preiously written-off against such allowance. There were no similar recoveries of accounts receivable balances for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

5]

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized $11,661 in revenue that was included in the cumulativ
effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000, which resulted from the Company’s adoption of Securities and Exchange Commissio
Sta f Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (no similar revenues were recognized durin
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002). The effect of that revenue during 2001 was to increase net income by $3,067

PRl 1 s |
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3. Reorganization Under Bankruptcy Proceedings

On August 15, 2001 (the “Petition Date™), Covad, excluding its operating subsidiaries, filed a veluntary petition (the “Petition”)
under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) for the purpose of confirming its- pre-
negotiated First Amended Plan of Reorganization, as modified, on November 26, 2001 (the “Plan”) with the majority holders
(the “Noteholders”) of its senior-notes. The Petition was filed with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware
(the “Bankruptcy Court”) and was assigned Case No. 01-10167 (JJF). On December 13, 2001, the Bankruptcy Court entered an
order confirming the Plan and, on December 20, 2001 (the “Effective Date”), the Plan was consummated and Covad emerged
from bankruptcy. However, the Bankruptcy Court still maintains jurisdiction over certain administrative matters related to the
implementation of the Plan, including the unresolved claims described below.

On the Effective Date, the Company made the following distributions of cash and shares of its common stock to certain claimants:

Common Stock

Aggregate Fair Total

Claimant Cash Shares Market Value Consideration
Noteholders $ 271,708 35,292,800 $ 88,585 $ 360,293
Plaintiffs in litigation (Note 10) 5,793 2,000,000 5,020 10,813
Other claimants 1,900 — — 1,900
$ 279,401 37,292,800 $ 93,605 $ 373,006

The aforementioned distributions of cash and shares of the Company’s common stock resulted in the extinguishment of certain
liabilities of Covad as of the Effective Date and the recognition of a gain on extinguishment of debt and certain litigation-related
and other general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2001, as follows:

Extinguishment of senior notes:

Senior notes $ 1,351,488
Accrued interest 42,532
1,394,020

Less consideration distributed to the Noteholders 360,293
GAIN ON EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT $ 1,033,727
Settlement of litigation (Note 10): -
Consideration distributed to the plaintiffs $ 10,813
Less amounts accrued prior to the Effective Date 6,820
ADDITIONAL LITIGATION-RELATED EXPENSES RECOGNIZED $ 3,993
Other: -
Consideration distributed to the claimants $ 1,900
Less amounts accrued prior to the Effective Date —
ADDITIONAL GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES RECOGNIZED $ 1,900

There were unresolved claims related to Covad’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings aggregating $8,341 and $8,344 as of December
31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded these unresolved claims in its
consolidated bhalance sheets based on the amount of such claims allowed by the Bankruptcy Court (adjusted for changes in
the value of the Company’s common stock after December 20, 2001), unless the Company has persuasive evidence indicating
that a claim is duplicative with another allowed claim that was settled previously or is otherwise in error. In these cases, the
unresolved claim does not meet the criteria for recognition in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is
reasonably possible that the Company’s unresolved Chapter 11 bankruptcy claims could ultimately be settled for amounts that
differ from the aggregate liability for “Unresclved claims related to bankruptcy proceedings” reflected in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had (i) placed $309 and $501, respectively, of cash in a reserve fund (this
balance is classified as “Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets) and (i) reserved
7,078,733 and 7,078,733 shares, respectively, of common stock pending the resolution of the aforementioned disputed claims.

The holders of the Company’s common stock issued prior to the Effective Date of the Plan retained their existing equity interests,
but were diluted through the issuance of common stock to the claimants described above. As of the Effective Date, and after
the issuance of 37,292,800 shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the Plan as described above, there were 216,445,276
shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding. The holders of the Company’s common stock immediately before
the Effective Date of the Plan held more than 50% of the Campany’s voting shares (including shares reserved for future issuance
under the Plan) immediately after the Effective Date of the Plan. Therefore, under AICPA Statement of Position (“SOP”) go-7,
“Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” the Company did not qualify for fresh-start reporting.

in accordance with SOP go-7, expenses resulting from the restructuring are reported separately as reorganization items. For
the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized expenses directly associated with Covad’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy
proceedings in the amount of $63,229 (none for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002). These reorganization expenses
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consisted of (i) non-cash adjustments to unamortized debt issuance costs and discounts and (i) professional fees for legal and
finz ncial advisory services. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recognized interest income in the amount}f
$609 on accumulated cash that Covad did not dishurse as a result of its Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings (none for the yeats
enced December 31, 2003 and 2002). Such interest income has been offset against the aforementioned reorganizatidn
expenses in the Company’s 2001 consolidated statement of operations.

|
Operating cash receipts and payments made by Covad resulting from the Plan were as follows for the period from August 1‘5,
20¢1 through December 20, 2001:

Cash receipts:

laterest received $ 2,650

.. TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS $ 2,650
Cash disbursements: =
-}aterest paid $ 1,509
-frofessional fees paid 16,003
Claims paid 277,893‘
TOTAL CASH DISBURSEMENTS $ 295,404

4. Other Restructuring Activities

Blu2Star, which was acquired by the Company on September 22, 2000 in a transaction accounted for as a purchase (Note 6,
pro/ided broadband communications and Internet services to small and medium-sized businesses in smaller cities using a dire¢
sale:s model. Continued losses at BlueStar, with no near term possibility of improvement, caused the Company’s board of directo
to ecide, on June 22, 2001, to cease the Company’s funding of BlueStar’s operations. Subsequently, on june 25, 200
BluaStar terminated all of its 365 employees. However, 59 of BlueStar's former employees were temporarily retained by t
Corpany for varying periods through July 31, 2001 to assist with the migration of certain BlueStar end-user lines to the Company,
network, as described below. in addition, the Company hired 69 of BlueStar’s former employees subsequent to June 25, 200

n o~ s

o

a

On lune 24, 2001, the Company and BlueStar entered into a Purchase Agreement (“PA”) under which the Company purchase
the right to offer service to BlueStar’s customers, subject to BlueStar’s right to seek higher offers. The Company paid
apgroximately $2,000 in 2001 (none in 2003 and 2002) under the PA and had no additional liabilities under the PA as of December
31, 2003 and 2002. To facilitate this migration, the Company and BlueStar entered into a Migration Agreement on July 12, 2oc‘o1
tha: required the Company to pay certain amounts contemplated in the PA directly to certain former employees of BlueSta;r
anc certain BlueStar vendors, including the Assignee, as defined below. The Company made payments aggregating $5,100 in
connection with BlueStar’s cessation of operations during the year ended December 31, 2001 (none in 2003 and 2002). Of this
amount, $1,300 represents employee severance benefits, $2,000 represents customer acquisition costs under the PA and $1,8c0
rep 'esents legal and other professional fees. Such (i) severance benefits and professional fees and (ii) customer acquisitio‘n
cos:s have been charged to restructuring expenses and network and product costs, respectively, in the Company’s consolldatg‘d
stalement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. ‘

On June 25, 2001, BlueStar made an irrevocable assignment for the benefit of creditors (“ABC”) of all its assets to a‘n

indizpendent trustee (the “Assignee”) in the State of Tennessee. Immediately thereafter, the Assignee began an orderly
ligt idation of BlueStar that was initially expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2002. However, the Assignee has
infcrmed the Company that it is still in the process of resolving some matters among BlueStar’s creditors and that the process
mav extend into the second half of 2004. An ABC under Tennessee law is a non-judicial alternative to a plan of liquidation under
Chepter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the ABC, BlueStar’s former assets are no longer controlled by BlueStar or
the Company and cannot be used by either BlueStar’s or the Company’s boards of directors to satisfy the liabilities of BlueStar.
Cor sequently, the liquidation of BlueStar’s assets and the settlement of its liabilities are currently under the sole control of
the Assignee and the control of BlueStar’s assets no longer rests with the Company. Therefore, the Company deconsolidated
Blu 2Star effective June 25, 2001, which resulted in the recognition of a deferred gain in the amount of $55,200 in the Company(s
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001. Such deferred gain represented the difference between the carrying
values of BlueStar’s assets (aggregating $7,900) and liabilities (aggregating $63,100) as of June 25, 2001. During 2003 and 2002
the deferred gain was reduced by $9 and $1,228, respectively, because certain BlueStar assets were inadvertently ng
deconsolidated on June 25, 2001. Therefore, the deconsolidation of BlueStar, resulted in a deferred gain balance of $53,963
and $53,972 in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company w ‘11
recognize such deferred gain as an element of other income (expense) when the liquidation of BlueStar is complete and its
liakilities have been discharged.

—

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations of the Company as iif
the deconsolidation of BlueStar had occurred on January 1, 2001 and does not purport to be indicative of the results of operatior
tha: would have occurred had the deconsolidation occurred on january 1, 2001, or the results that may occur in the future:

n
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Year ending December 31, 2001

Revenues $ 320,619
Loss before gain on extinguishment of debt and cumulative effect of accounting charge $  (646,647)
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 387,080
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share $ 2.18

During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company announced a comprehensive restructuring plan that involved the following steps:

¢ raising revenue by reducing rebates and other incentives that the Company provides to customers and reducing new line
addition plans for 2001 to improve margins and reduce subscriber payback times;

e closing approximately 200 under-performing or not fully built-out central offices and reducing the size of the Company’s network
to approximately 1,700 central offices;

e reducing the Company’s workforce by 638 employees, which represented approximately 21% of the Company’s workforce;

e closing a facility in-Alpharetta, Georgia and consolidating offices in-Manassas, Virginia, Santa Clara, California and Denver,
Colorado; : :

s continued downsizing of the Company’s international operations and discontinuing plans to fund additional international
expansion while continuing to manage existing investments;

o enhancing productivity in the Company’s operations to increase customer satisfaction while reducing costs;
o restructuring the Company’s direct sales and marketing channel; and

¢ evaluating and implementing other cost reduction strategies, including salary freezes and reductions in travel, facilities and
advertising expenses.

In connection with this restructuring plan, the Company recorded a charge to operations of $4,988 in the fourth quarter of 2000
relating to employee severance benefits that met the requirements for accrual as of December 31, 2000. During the year ended
December 31, 2001, the total workforce was reduced by 638 employees and the Company paid $3,849 in severance benefits,
which were charged against the restructuring liability recorded as of December 31, 2000.

The Company recorded additional restructuring expenses aggregating $14,364 during the year ended December 31, 2001, of
which $2,140 related to the BlueStar shutdown. These expenses consist principally of collocation and building lease termination
costs that met the requirements for accrual in 2001. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company paid collocation
and building lease termination costs of $12,355, which were charged against the restructuring liabilities recorded during 2001.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, the restructuring liability was also reduced by $131 based on revised estimates of
the Company’s restructuring expenses. No restructuring expenses were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2002.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company reduced its workforce by approximately 113 employees, which
represented approximately 10.2% of the Company’s workforce. The reductions covered employees in the areas of sales and
marketing, operations and corporate functions. In connection with the reductions in force, the Company recorded a charge to
operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 of $1,235 relating to employee severance benefits, all of which was paid during
the year ended December 31, 2003. The expenses associated with these reductions in force were $103 related to the Company’s
CSP business segment (Note 14), and $349 related to the Company’s Covad Broadband Solutions (“or CBS”) business segment
(Note 14). The remaining $783 in expenses associated with these reductions in force were related to the Company’s Corporate
Operations (Note 14).

Management continues to consider whether additional restructuring is necessary, and the Company may incur additional charges
to operations related to any further restructuring activities in future periods.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,
2003 2002
Leasehold improvements $ 10,339 $ 9,276
Computer equipment 48,801 47,206
Computer software 33,912 30,486
Furniture and fixtures 17,515 17,785
Networks and communication equipment 362,910 334,001
473,477 438,754
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 379,198 330,017
Property and equipment, net $ 94,279 $ 108,737

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company determined that (i) certain of its communication equipment was obsolete based
on its discontinued use in the Company’s network and (ii) it would sell (subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors)
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its lend, building and certain furniture and fixtures located in Manassas, Virginia. In March 2002, the Company entered into a
non-binding letter of intent with a third party to sell the aforementioned Manassas, Virginia property for $14,000. Accordingl\),
the lompany recognized a write-down of this property and equipment in the amount of $9,999 during the fourth quarter of
200:. In April 2002, the Company received the necessary approval from its Board of Directors to proceed with the sale of this
prog erty (at which time the Company suspended depreciation of the building and related improvements when such assets hag
an aggregate carrying value of $13,201). In June 2002, the Company completed the sale of this property and recognized a gain
of $:..33, which represents the net proceeds of $13,334 less the aggregate carrying value of the property, as described above
in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company recorded na
impairment write-downs of long-lived assets during 2003 and 2002.

6. B isiness Acquisition, Asset Acguisitions and Equity Investments

Acquisition of BlueStar

800,000 shares to be held in escrow for a one year period pending the Company’s verification of certain representations an
warnanties made to it by BlueStar at the date of the acquisition) in exchange for all of the outstanding preferred and commo
shares of BiueStar. Two of the Company’s stockholders and members of its Board of Directors when the acquisition occurre#
were also stockholders of BlueStar, and one was a member of the board of directors of BlueStar. |

On S eptember 22, 2000, the Company acquired BlueStar by issuing approximately 6,100,000 shares of common stock (includini’

This transaction was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the
results of operations of BlueStar for periods ending after the date of acquisition. However, as described in Note 3, the Company

deconsolidated BlueStar effective June 25, 2001. “

Up t35,000,000 additional common shares of the Company’s common stock were to be issued if BlueStar achieved certain specified
leveis of revenues and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization in 2001. However, during April, 2001, th
Corr pany reached an agreement with the BlueStar stockholders’ representative to resolve this matter, as well as the matters
that caused 800,000 of the Company’s common shares to be held in escrow as of December 31, 2000, by providing the BlueSta‘r
stockholders with 2,532,850 (which include 264,369 options and warrants which are held by the Company in the event such
optiins and warrants are exercised after the distribution date) of the 5,000,000 shares, in exchange for a release of all claim

against the Company. The 800,000 common shares held in escrow were ultimately returned to the Company under thi

agreement. BlueStar's former stockholders received the additional shares of the Company’s common stock during 2001.
Coniiequently, the Company recorded additional goodwill of $1,989 in 2001. However, the Company determined that such goodwill
was impaired based on BlueStar’s continued operating losses, as described in Note 3. Therefore, such goodwill balance was
writ en-off through a charge to the provision for long-lived asset impairment during the year ended December 31, 2001, ‘

Acgisisition of InternetConnect Assets

On January 3, 2002, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of InternetConnect, a related party (Note 1), in a
auction supervised by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California. The purchase price for thes
assets was $5,470 in cash, $235 of which had been deposited with InternetConnect’s agent prior to January 1, 2002. Under the
termis of the asset purchase agreement, the Company may be required to pay additional cash of up to $1,880, depending upor
the »utcome of a previous post-petition bankruptcy claim filed against InternetConnect by the Company, which is still pending
befcre the court. The Company did not assume any liabilities or obligations of InternetConnect or hire any of InternetConnect’§
emp loyees. {n addition, the Company does not believe the assets acquired from InternetConnect constitute a self-sustaining},
intezrated set of activities and assets that would constitute a business. |

!

The tangible assets of InternetConnect purchased by the Company consisted of accounts receivable, refundable deposits an%ﬁ
property and equipment. The Company also purchased the right, but not the obligation, to assume InternetConnect’s customer
contracts. However, the Company did not exercise this right. Instead, the Company solicited the approximately 9,250 DSL,
T-1, virtual private network (“VPN”) and dial-up customers of InternetConnect, and approximately 6,200 of such customers execute
new contracts with the Company or its resellers subsequent to January 3, 2002.

The Company has allocated the aforementioned purchase price based on the estimated fair values of the elements of this transactiop
as of January 3, 2002, as follows:

Accounts receivable $ 1,386
Refundable deposits 34%
Property and equipment 61
Cus :omer acquisition costs 3,674

$ 5,47G

The customer acquisition costs of $3,674 described above were charged to network and product costs for the year ended December
31, 2002 based on the Company’s accounting policy for costs of this nature that are not accompanied by up-front fees (Note 2}.

\
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Acquisition of Qwest Customer List

On June 5, 2003, the Company purchased a customer list from Qwest Communications Corporation and Qwest Interprise America,
inc. (collectively, “Qwest”) pertaining to approximately 23,000 DSL subscribers who were not located in the states where Qwest
provides local telephone services (substantially all of whom were not, indirectly, end-user customers of the Company as of June
5, 2003 under the then-existing wholesale DSL services agreement with Qwest). In exchange for the customer list, the
Company paid $3,750 in cash and released Qwest from its obligations under the wholesale DSL services agreement. In
addition, the Company agreed to pay Qwest an additional amount of up to $1,250 if certain numbers of these customers migrate
to the Company’s network within a defined period, which has now elapsed. The additional level of successful migrations was
not achieved and, consequently, the Company was not required to pay such additional amount to Qwest. The Company did not
assume any liabilities or obligations of Qwest or hire any of Qwest’s employees. In addition, the Company does not believe the
customer list acquired from Qwest constitutes a self-sustaining, integrated set of activities and assets that would constitute
a business. Approximately 13,000 of these customers were migrated to the Company’s network as of December 31, 2003.

The Company recorded the $3,750 cash payment to Qwest for the customer list as an intangible asset, and such intangible asset
is being amortized on a straight-line basis to operations over a twenty-four month period, which is the Company’s estimate of
the aggregate expected term of its customer relationships.

Unconsolidated Investments in Affiliates

The following table lists the Company’s unconsolidated investments in affiliates as of December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Date of Ownership Percentage Method of Investment Carrying Yatue

Entity Name Investment(s) 2003 2002 Accounting 2003 2002
DishnetDSL Limited February 2000 —% —% Equity $ - 5 -
ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. August 2000 10% 10% Equity — -
Certive Corporation November 1999; May 2000 5% 5% Equity - 1,026
Sequoia Capital X May-November 2000 —% —% Equity - -
Loop Holdings Europe ApS September 2000 —% —% Equity - -
$ — % 1026

DishnetDSL Limited

In February 2000, the Company acquired a 6% American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) equity interest in DishnetDSL Limited
(“Dishnet™), a privately held, [ndian telecommunications company, in exchange for cash payments totaling approximately $23,000,
which the Company believed was representative of the fair value of such investment based on significant concurrent investments
in Dishnet made by new, non-strategic investors. The difference between the cost of the Company’s equity investment in Dishnet
and its proportional share of Dishnet’s net assets ($11,963 as of December 31, 2001) was being amortized using the straight-
line method over a period of five years. Concurrent with its purchase of the Dishnet ADRs, the Company also acquired, without
further consideration, (i) contingent warrants for the purchase of up to 3,700,000 Dishnet ADRs at a price that is presently
indeterminate and (ii} a put option (the “Put Option”) from a Dishnet shareholder and another entity that entitles the Company
to require these entities to purchase the Dishnet ADRs owned by the Company at their original purchase price for a specified
period beginning in February 2002. Because of the contingent nature of the Dishnet warrants and uncertainties concerning the
financial capacity of the makers of the Put Option, the Company ascribed no separate value to these elements of the transaction.
As a result of this strategic investment, one employee of the Company became a member of the board of directors of Dishnet.
(The Company's chairman holds options to purchase shares of Dishnet and is a member of the board of directors of Dishnet).

In February 2002, the Company’s board of directors approved an offer involving () the sale of the Company’s 6% ADR interest
in Dishnet for $3,000 in cash, (ii) settlement of a claim alleging breach of contract by the Company relating to the 0SS license
described below and (iii) relinquishment of the Put Option by the Company. Consequently, during 2001, the Company wrote-
down the carrying value of its Dishnet equity investment to its estimated net realizable value through a charge to the provision
for impairment of unconsolidated equity investments in the amount of $10,069. This transaction was completed in May 2002,
which resulted in the recognition of an additional loss in the amount of $996. Such loss included a cumulative foreign currency
translation loss in the amount of $1,342, which was included in (i) the carrying value of the Company’s Dishnet equity
investment and (ii) the Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balance as of the date of sale of such investment.

In February 2000, the Company also licensed its 0SS software to Dishnet and another entity for $28,000, $24,000 of which
was received in cash on such date. The Company also agreed to provide certain software support, customization and training
services to Dishnet and another entity relating to the 0SS license up to an aggregate cost of $2,500. Accordingly, the Company
recorded $2,500 of the OSS license proceeds received from Dishnet as a liability in February 2000, all of which has been offset
by expenses incurred in 2000 and 2001 by the Company to customize the 0SS for Dishnet. The remaining proceeds of $21,500
have been offset against the Company’s capitalized internal-use software costs.

ACCA Networks Co., Ltd.

In August 2000, the Company acquired a 42% preferred equity interest in ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. (“ACCA”), a privately held,
Japanese telecommunications company, in exchange for cash payments aggregating approximately $11,700, which the Company
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believes is representative of the fair value of such investment based on significant concurrent investments in ACCA made b{/
new non-strategic investors. The difference between the cost of the Company’s equity investment in ACCA and its proportional
shate of ACCA’s net assets had been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. As of December 31, 2003, the Company’s equit
interest in ACCA was diluted to 10% due to ACCA’s financings in 2002 and 2001. As a result of this strategic investment, one
employee of the Company is a member of the board of directors of ACCA.

In addition, in August 2000, the Company also licensed its 0SS software to ACCA for $9,000, of which $2,000 and $2,000 was
received in cash during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remainder of $5,000, which was scheduled to be received in 2005,
was received in December 2003 in accordance with an amendment to the August 2000 0SS software license agreement. The
Comr pany recorded the $5,000 payment received in December 2003 as miscellaneous income, because the carrying value of
the JSS software licensed to ACCA was fully recovered at that time. The Company may also receive certain on-going royalt
payinents from ACCA under terms of the amended 0SS license agreement. Such payments amounted to $2,345 and $814 durin
the 'ears ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 (none during the year ended December 31, 2001). As stated above, the 0SS softwar
licensed to ACCA had a net book value of zero at December 31, 2003. Consequently, any additional royalty payments will b
recarded as miscellaneous income in future periods. The Company also agreed to provide certain software support, customizatio
and training services to ACCA relating to the OSS license up to an aggregate cost of $2,000. Accordingly, the Compan
reccrded $2,000 of the 0SS license proceeds received from ACCA as a liability in August 2000, all of which has been offset b
expenses incurred in 2000 and 2001 by the Company to customize the 0SS software for ACCA.

R I (e

Cerlive Corporation

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company held a 5% preferred equity interest in Certive Corporation (“Certive™), a privatet
helc, development stage application service provider. The Company’s chairman is also the chairman and a principal stockholder
of Cortive. During 2003, the Company determined that its investment in Certive may be impaired due to Certive’s financial condition
and market prospects. Accordingly, the Company wrote-off the remaining carrying value of its investment through a charge to
operations of $747 in 2003.

Sequoia Capital X

As «f December 31, 2000, the Company held a 2% limited partnership interest in Sequoia Capital X, a privately held ventur
cap tal partnership. The Company sold its investment in Sequoia Capital X during 2001 for $1,225 in cash, which resulted ip
the recognition of a gain in the amount of $178.

D

Loo > Holdings Europe ApS
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In September 2000, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of Loop Holdings Europe ApS (“Loop Holdings™), which
owrs 70% (a 43% voting interest) of the preferred stock of Loop Telecom, S.A. (“Loop Telecom”), a privately held, Spanish
telecommunications company. Consideration for the Company’s acquisition of the capital stock of Loop Holdings consisted df
$15 000 in cash and non-recourse notes payable aggregating $35,000. In March 2001, the Company declined to make the first
schaduled payment of $15,000 under the terms of the non-recourse notes payable. As a result, the Company’s indirect
preferred equity interest in Loop Telecom was diluted to 21% (a 21% voting interest) and its obligations under the non-recourse
notis payable were released. Accordingly, in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2000, the Compan]y
netted the non-recourse notes payable aggregating $35,000 against the equity investment balance and wrote-off its initial $15,000
investment balance in Loop Holdings through a charge to operations in 2000 due to uncertainties concerning the recoverability
of such investment.

On february 5, 2002, the Company, via Loop Holdings, sold its equity interest in Loop Telecom to certain other shareholders
of Loop Telecom for $360 in cash, which resulted in the recognition of a gain in the amount of $360.

7. Credit Arrangements

\
As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s long-term debt consisted of a $50,000 term note payable to SBC (Note 11),
as tlescribed below.

Immediately prior to Covad’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy on December 20, 2001 (Note 3), the Company’s new agreements
with SBC became effective (Note 11). One such agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) involves a term note payable that is collateralized
by :;ubstantialtly all of the Company’s domestic assets. This note bears interest at 11%, which is payable quarterly beginnir{g
in.['ecember 2003. The entire unpaid principal balance is payable in December 2005. However, the Company has the right {o
presay the principal amount of the note, in whole or in part, at any time without penalty. In addition, upon a “Change of Contro"‘
of t1e Company, as defined in the Credit Agreement, SBC has the option to require all amounts due under the terms of the Credit
Agrzement to be paid by the Company within 30 days of the Change of Control. The Credit Agreement contains various restricti\}e
covenants, which, among other things, restrict the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness or permit liens to be placed
on s assets. |

As Jf December 31, 2003, the Company had a $3,000 revolving line of credit with a bank that is available through April 200L.
At the Company’s option, borrowings under this credit facility bear interest at certain fixed or variable rates. As of December
31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had issued irrevocable letters of credit aggregating $2,583 and $2,075, respectively, under
this line of credit in favor of lessors of equipment and facilities. !

|
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8. Capital Leases

The capitalized costs and accumulated amortization related to assets under capital leases were $165 and $165, respectively,
as of December 31, 2003 (the corresponding amounts were $482 and $344, respectively, as of December 31, 2002). All of the
Company’s capital leases were retired at maturity in 2003. '

9. Operating Leases and Purchase Obligations
Operating Leases

The Company leases vehicles, equipment and office space under various noncancelable operating leases. The facility leases
generally require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and maintenance, and contain scheduled
rent increases and certain other rent escalation clauses. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over
the terms of the respective leases. Future minimum lease payments by year under operating leases with noncancelable terms
in excess of one year, along with future minimum payments to be received under noncancelable subleases, are as follows:

Gross Lease Less Sublease Net Lease
Payments Payments Payments

Year ending December 31,
2004 $ 4,999 $ 544 $ 4,455
2005 3,482 — 3,482
2006 2,814 - 2,814
2007 1,926 - 1,926
2008 1,429 - 1,429
Thereafter 269 - 269
TOTAL $ 14,919  § 544  $ 14,375

Rent expense, which is net of sublease income of $533, $402 and $152 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, totaled $7,874,
$8,710 and $15,421 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Purchase Obligations

In 2002, the Company entered into a three-year, non-exclusive agreement with MCI, for the right to provide certain network
services to the Company. The Company has a monthly minimum usage requirement which began in june 2002. The agreement
expires in May 2005 and the Company has a minimum remaining aggregate purchase obligation of approximately $11,390 as
of December 31, 2003. Similarly, in 2002, the Company entered into a three-year, non-exclusive agreement with AT&T for the
right to provide certain data services to the Company. The Company has an annual minimum usage requirement which began
in January 2002. The agreement expires in December 2004 and the Company has a minimum remaining aggregate purchase
obligation of approximately $11,500 as of December 31, 2003. In addition, in 2002, the Company entered into a four-year, non-
exclusive agreement with AT&T for the right to provide long distance services to the Company. The Company has an annual minimum
usage requirement which began in April 2002. The agreement expires in March 2006 and the Company has a minimum
remaining aggregate usage commitment of approximately $2,250 as of December 31, 2003.

Aggregate payments by year for the Company’s purchase obligations are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2004 $ 20,665
2005 4,475
TOTAL $ 25,140

Network and product costs, recognized pursuant to the aforementioned purchase obligations totaled $1,292 for the year ended
December 31, 2003. No similar amounts for these purchase obligations were recorded during 2002 and 2001.

10. Contingencies
Litigation

Purchasers of the Company’s commen stock and purchasers of the convertible senior notes the Company issued in September

2000 filed complaints against the Company and certain present and former officers of the Company in the United States District

Court for the Northern District of California (the “District Court”). The complaints were consolidated and the lead plaintiff filed _
its amended consolidated complaint. The amended consolidated complaint alleges violations of federal securities laws on behalf
of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities, including common stock and notes, during the period
from April 19, 2000 to May 24, 2001. The relief sought includes monetary damages and equitable relief. in 2001, the Company
and the officer and director defendants entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with counsel for the lead plaintiffs
in this litigation that tentatively resolves the litigation, providing for the distribution of $16,500 in cash to be funded by the
Company’s insurance carriers and 6,495,844 shares of the Company’s common stock. The plaintiffs voted in favor of the plan.
Consequently, the Company recorded a liability of approximately $18,578 in its consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
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2001 through a charge to litigation-related expenses for the year then ended in connection with this anticipated settlement.
As a result of changes inthe fair market value of the Company’s common stock, the Company decreased this liability to $6,95
as uf December 31, 2002 through a credit to litigation-related expenses of $11,628 for the year ended December 31, 2002. Th
set:lement provided for in the MOU was subject to the approval of the District Court and, on December 18, 2002, the Distric
Court issued its final judgment and dismissal order. One class member subsequently filed an appeal pertaining to the final judgmen
but his appeal only relates to the allocation of the settlement proceeds between the plaintiffs and their attorneys.

T+ @ O

In April 1999, the Company filed a lawsuit against Beil Atlantic (now Verizon) and its affiliates in the United States District Court
for the District of Columbia. The Company is pursuing antitrust and other claims in this lawsuit arising out of Verizon’s condurt
as it supplier of network facilities, including central office space, transmission facilities and telephone lines. In December 200p,
the Company also filed a lawsuit against Bel{South Telecommunications and its subsidiaries in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of Georgia. The Company is pursuing claims in this lawsuit that are similar to its claims against Verizop.
Both courts dismissed some of the Company’s claims based on the ruling of the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh
Circuit in Goldwasser v. Ameritech. The court in the Verizon case aiso dismissed the Company’s remaining claims on other grounds.
The: Company voluntarily dismissed its remaining claims in the BellSouth case so it could pursue certain issues on appeal. The
Coinpany appealed these decisions to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit and the United States Cou'rt
of /ippeals for the District of Columbia. On August 2, 2002, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the lower court’s decisién
in the BellSouth case and remanded the case for further proceedings. BellSouth appealed this decision to the United States
Supreme Court. On January 20, 2004, the United States Supreme Court reversed a decision entitled Verizon Communications
v. Law Offices of Curtis Trinko, which rejected the Goldwasser decision. The Eleventh Circuit also relied in part on the Trinko
decision when it reversed the lower court’s dismissal of our claims against BellSouth. The Supreme Court also vacated the Eleventh
Ciruit’s decision in the Company’s case against BellSouth and remanded the case to the Eleventh Circuit for review in light of
the Trinko decision. The Company believes the Trinko decision does not impact its cases, but both BellSouth and Verizon claim
that Trinko supports the dismissal of the Company’s lawsuits. The Company cannot predict the outcome of these matters. ‘

On June 11, 2001, Verizon Communications filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Northe%‘n

District of California. Verizon is a supplier of telephone lines that the Company uses to provide services to its customers. In its
amended complaint, Verizon claims that the Company falsified trouble ticket reports with respect to the phone lines the Company
orcered and seeks unspecified monetary damages (characterized as being in the “millions™) and injunctive relief. The currert
cornplaint asserts causes of action for negligent and intentional misrepresentation and violations of California’s unfair
coripetition statute. On November 13, 2002, the District Court entered summary judgment in favor of the Company and dismisséd
Vetizon's claims against the Company in their entirety. Verizon has appealed the dismissal of its lawsuit. The Company believes

it kas strong defenses to this lawsuit, but litigation is inherently unpredictable and there is no guarantee it will prevail,

Several stockholders filed complaints in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, on behalf of
the mselves and purported classes of stockholders, against the Company and several former and current officers and directo
in uddition to some of the underwriters who handled the Company’s stock offerings. These lawsuits are so-called IPO allocation
cases, challenging practices allegedly used by certain underwriters of public equity offerings during the late 1990s and 200
On April 19, 2002, the plaintiffs amended their complaint and removed the Company as a defendant. Certain directors and officers
are still named in the complaint. The plaintiffs claim that the Company and others failed to disclose the arrangements that some
of these underwriters purportedly made with certain investors. The plaintiffs and the issuer defendants have reached|a
ter tative agreement to settle the matter, and the Company believes the tentative settlement will not have a material adverse
effi:ct on its consolidated financial position or results of operations. That settlement, however, has not been finalized. If the
settlement is not finalized, the Company believes it has strong defenses to these lawsuits and intends to contest them
vigorously. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable and there is no guarantee that the Company will prevail.

3]

In June 2002, Dhruv Khanna was relieved of his duties as the Company’s General Counsel and Secretary. Shortly thereafter, fir.
Khanna alteged that, over a period of years, certain current and former directors and officers breached their fiduciary duties
to :he Company by engaging in or approving actions that constituted waste and self-dealing, that certain current and former
diractors and officers had provided false representations to the Company’s auditors and that he had been relieved of his duties
in 1etaliation for his being a purported whistleblower and because of racial or national origin discrimination. He had threatened
to “ile a shareholder derivative action against those current and former directors and officers, as well as a wrongful termination
lavrsuit. Mr. Khanna was placed on paid leave while his allegations were being investigated.

Thi: Company’s Board of Directors appointed a special investigative committee, which initially consisted of Dale Crandall a ﬂd
Heilene Runtagh, to investigate the allegations made by Mr. Khanna. Richard Jalkut was appointed to this committee shortly
aft2r he joined the Company’s Board of Directors. This committee retained an independent law firm to assist in its investigatian.
Based on this investigation, the committee concluded that Mr, Khanna’s allegations were without merit and that it would njot
be in the best interests of the Company to commence litigation based on these allegations. The committee considered, among
othier things, that many of Mr. Khanna'’s allegations were not accurate, that certain allegations challenged business decisions
lav/fully made by management or the Board of Directors, that the transactions challenged by Mr. Khanna in which any director
ha ¥ an interest were approved by a majority of disinterested directors in accordance with Delaware law, that the challenged
diractor and officer representations to the Company’s auditors were true and accurate, and that Mr. Khanna was not relieved
of .xis duties as a result of retaliation for alleged whistleblowing or racial or national origin discrimination. Mr. Khanna has disputed
the: committee’s work and the outcome of its investigation. ‘

|
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After the committee’s findings had been presented and analyzed, the Company concluded in January 2003 that it would not be
appropriate to continue Mr. Khanna on paid leave status, and determined that there was no suitable role for him at the Company.
Accordingly, he was terminated as an employee of the Company.

Based on the events mentioned above, in September 2003, Mr. Khanna filed a purported class action and a derivative action
against the Company’s current and former directors in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and for New Castle
County. in-this action Mr. Khanna seeks recovery on behalf of the Company from the individual defendants for their purported
breach of fiduciary duty. Mr. Khanna also seeks to invalidate the Company’s election of directors in 2002 and 2003 because he
claims that the Company’s proxy statements were misteading. While the Company believes Mr. Khanna's contentions referred
to above are without merit, and the Company and its directors will vigorously defend against them, it is unable to predict the
outcome of this lawsuit. o T N . '

The Company is also a party to a variety of other pending or threatened legal proceedings as either plaintiff or defendant, or
is engaged in business disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. Failure to resolve these various legal disputes
and controversies without excessive delay and cost and in a manner that is favorable to the Company could significantly harm
its business. The Company does not believe the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact on its
consolidated financial position and results of operations. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable and there is no
guarantee the Company will prevail or otherwise not be adversely affected.

The Company is subject to state public utility commission, FCC and other regulatory and court decisions as they relate to the
interpretation and implementation of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, the interpretation of competitive telecommunications
company interconnection agreements in general, and the Company’s interconnection agreements in particular. In some cases
the Company may be bound by or may otherwise be significantly impacted by the results of ongoing proceedings of these bodies
orthe legal outcomes of other contested interconnection agreements that are similar to the Company’s agreements. The results
of any of these proceedings could harm the Company’s business.

Cther Contingencies

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had disputes with a number of telecommunications companies concerning the balances
owed to such telecommunications carriers for collocation fees and certain network services. The Company believes such disputes
will be resolved without a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position and results of operations. However, it
is reasonably possibte that the Company’s estimates of its collocation fee and network service obligations, as reflected in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, could change in the near term, and the effects could be material to the Company’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations. In this regard, on February 26, 2002, the Company executed a settlement
agreement with Verizon involving certain disputed collocation fee and network service obligations. Under the terms of this settlement
agreement, (i) the Company was relieved of an accrued collocation fee and network service obligation with a balance of $5,570,
which was recorded as a reduction of network and product costs during the fourth quarter of 2001 and (ii) Verizon’s ultimate
damage award or settlement, if any, pursuant to the Company’s antitrust lawsuit against Verizon will be reduced by approximately
$6,600. Furthermore, in May 2002, the Company executed a settlement agreement with another telecommunications company
involving certain disputed network service obligations. Under the terms of this settlement agreement, the Company was relieved
of a network service obligation with a recorded balance of $6,018 through a combination of a $468 payment and a $5,550 credit
that reduced network and product costs during the year ended December 31, 2002. During 2003, the Company changed its estimates
of certain liabilities for collocation and network services as a result of (i) the resolution of various billing disputes with its vendors
and (ii) the receipt of an invoice in December 2003 from a vendor for certain services provided by such vendor primarily in 2000
and 2001, which the Company is currently disputing. In addition, the Company is engaged in a variety of legal proceedings with
multiple telephone companies. These negotiations, arbitrations and regulatory proceedings concern the traditional telephone
companies’ denial of physical central office space to the Company in certain central offices, the cost and delivery of transmission
facilities and telephone lines and central office space, billing issues and other operational issues. An unfavorable outcome in
any of these negotiations, arbitrations and regulatory proceedings could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations if it is denied or charged higher rates for transmission lines or central
office space.

The Company is analyzing the applicability of certain transaction-based taxes to (i) sales of its products and services and (ii)
purchases of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This analysis includes discussions with authorities of significant
jurisdictions in which the Company does business and various transaction-based tax experts to determine the extent of the
Company’s respective transaction-based tax liabilities. It is the Company’s opinion that such analysis will be concluded without
a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position and results of operations. However, it is reasonably possible
that the Company’s estimates of its transaction-based tax liabilities, as reflected in the accompanying condensed consolidated
balance sheets, could change in the near term, and the effects could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial position
and results of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company changed its estimates of certain accrued
liabilities for transaction-based and property taxes based on settlement agreements reached with various states and local
jurisdictions where the Company does business. These changes in accounting estimate reduced the Company’s net loss by $8,439
(%0.04 per share). No such changes in estimate were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

The Company is analyzing the applicability of employment-related taxes for certain stock-based compensation provided to
employees in prior periods. Due to the probable applicability of these taxes, the Company recorded an estimated liability through
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a ct arge to operations in the amount of $5,931 during the year ended December 31, 2003. It is the Company’s opinion that such
analysis will be concluded without a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Hovsever, it is reasonably possible that the Company’s estimates of these tax liabilities, as reflected in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2003, could change in the near term, and the effects could be material to tHe

Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations. \
Guzrantees |

Froin time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that contingently require it to indemnify various parti%s
against claims from third parties. These contracts primarily relate to: (i} certain real estate ieases, under which the Company
mayv be required to indemnify property owners for environmental and other liabilities, and other claims arising from the Company]s
use of the applicable premises, (ii) certain agreements with the Company’s officers, directors and employees, under which the
Coripany may be required to indemnify such persons for liabilities arising out of their employment relationship, (iii) contrac
uncer which the Company may be required to indemnify customers against third-party claims that a Company product infringe:
a patent, copyright or other intellectual property right and (iv) procurement or license agreements under which the Compan
ma be required to indemnify licensors or vendors for certain claims that may be brought against them arising from the Company
acts or omissions with respect to the supplied products or technology.

.
w0
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Ger erally, a maximum obligation under these contracts is not explicitly stated. Because the obligated amounts associated wit
the:se types of agreements are not explicitly stated, the overall maximum amount of the obligation cannot be reasonably estimate
His orically, the Company has not been required to make payments under these obligations, and no liabilities have, therefor
been recorded for these obligations in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets,

D

11, Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
\
Striitegic Investors %

Effective December 20, 2001, immediately prior to Covad’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy (Note 3), the Company entered
inte a series of agreements with SBC, including (i) a $50,000 Credit Agreement (Note 7), (ii) a 10-year resale agreement (the
“Resale Agreement”) under which SBC, its affiliates or special agents will resell the Company’s. DSL services (SBC made a $75,0 o
nor interest-bearing prepayment, which is collateralized by substantially of the Company’s domestic assets, to the Company
on ecember 20, 2001 under the terms of the Resale Agreement) and (iii) a termination and mutual general release agreement
(the: “Termination Agreement”) that resulted in the cancellation of various agreements entered into in September 2000, exce;gt
for he stock purchase agreement and an interconnection and line-sharing agreement that remains in effect. The Company received
a pityment of $10,000 from SBC on December 20, 2001 under the terms of the Termination Agreement, which was deferred aﬁd
is being recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the 10-year term of the Resale Agreement.

Corimon Stock

6,6 25 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding at December 31, 2002 (none in 2003) were subject to repurchase
provisions, which generally lapse over a four-year period from the date of issuance.

Corymon stock reserved for future issuance as of December 31, 2003 was as follows:

Bar kruptcy claims (Note 3) 7,078,733
Qutstanding options (Note 13) 21,676,765
Options available for grant (Note 13) 14,895,19}.
Em >loyee stock purchase plan (Note 13) 3,005,805‘9
Ouistanding warrants (Note 11) 6,511,574

TOTAL 53,168,075

!

Stockholder Protection Rights Plan i
|

On February 15, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Protection Rights Plan under which stockholders
rec:ived one right for each share of the Company’s common stock or Class B common stock owned by them. The rights become
exercisable, in most circumstances, upon the accumulation by a person or group of 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding
sheres of common stock. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company, as provided by the Stockholder
Protection Rights Agreement, one one-thousandth of a share of participating preferred stock, par value $.001 per share, for
$400 per share, subject to adjustment. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, none of these rights were exercisable.

Wa rants

On [anuary 1, 2003, in conjunction with an amendment to an agreement with AT&T, the Company granted AT&T three warrants
to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock as follows: 1,000,000 shares for $0.94 per share; 1,000,000 shares for $3.¢0
per share; and 1,000,000 shares for $5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately exercisable, fully vested and nonforfeitable
at the date of grant. Accordingly, the measurement date for these warrants was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of
such warrants of $2,640 was recorded as a deferred customer incentive during the first quarter of 2003 and is being recognize‘d
as i reduction of revenues on a straight-line basis over the three-year term of the agreement because the Company believes

that future revenues from AT&T will exceed the fair value of the warrants described above. This value was determined using
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the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the following assumptions: closing price of the Company’s common stock on
December 31, 2002 of $0.94 per share; expected life of seven years (which is also the contractual life of the warrants); dividend
yield of zero; volatility of 1.52; and a risk-free interest rate of 3.36%. None of these warrants were exercised during 2003 or
had expired as of December 31, 2003.

On September 4, 2002, in conjunction with the execution of a five-year agreement with America Online, Inc. (*AOL”), a
wholesale customer, the Company granted AOL three warrants to purchase 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
for $1.06 per share, 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for $3.00 per share and 1,000,000 shares of the Company'’s
common stock for $5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately exercisable, fully vested and nonforfeitable at the date of
grant. Accordingly, the measurement date for these warrants was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of such warrants
of $3,790, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the following assumptions: closing price
of the Company’s common stock on September 4, 2002 of $1.14 per share; expected life of seven years (which is also the contractual
life of the warrants); dividend yield of zero; volatility of 1.56; and a risk-free interest rate of 3.63%, was recorded as a deferred
customer incentive and is being recognized as a reduction of revenues on a straight-line basis over the five-year term of the
agreement. None of these warrants were exercised during 2003 or had expired as of December 31, 2003.

Other warrants for the purchase of 11,574 shares of the Company’s commaon stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2003.
Such warrants are exercisable at a purchase price of $0.01 per share and fully vested as of December 31, 2003. Unless exercised,
all such warrants will expire on March 15, 2008. Warrants for the purchase of 225,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
expired in February 2003.

12. Income Taxes

The Company has made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements because it incurred operating losses in each of these periods. In addition, the Company made no provision for income
taxes on the extraordinary gain resulting from the extinguishment of debt in 2001 (Note 3) due to the relevant federal and state
tax regulations governing the treatment of debt extinguishment income in Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings.

A reconciliation of income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate (35%) to income tax expense (benefit) recorded in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Federal benefit at statutory rate $ (34,976) $ (64,690) % (241,139)
Nondeductible interest expense - - 878
Net operating losses with no current benefits 33,807 65,704 206,948
Deconsolidation of BlueStar - - 23,915
Other 1,169 (1,014) 9,398
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) 3 — $ — $ -

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred
tax assets and liabilities for federal and state income taxes are as follows:

December 31,

2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 327,574 $ 284,482
Capital loss carryforwards 16,919 10,803
Deferred and unearned revenue 37,921 45,600
Deconsolidation of BlueStar 21,585 21,589
Unconsolidated investments in affiliates 6,725 12,424
Depreciation and amortization 38,158 36,037
Other 12,231 11,107
Total deferred tax assets 461,113 422,042
Valuation allowance (461,113) (422,042)
Net deferred tax assets - -
Deferred tax liabilities - —
NET DEFERRED TAXES $ — 3 —

Realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary differences
is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the Company’s net deferred
tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased (decreased) by $39,071, $129,529
and $(145,941) during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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As >f December 31, 2003, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $762,000, whi\th
wil.expire beginning in 2022, if not utilized. As a result of the Company emerging from the bankruptcy (Note 3), the Company’s
feceral net operating loss carryforwards were reduced by approximately $995,000 in 2001. The Company also had aggregayte
nel operating loss carryforwards for state income tax of approximately $1,221,000, of which $14,856 will expire in 2004, $122,832
wilt expire in 2005, and $1,083,312 will expire thereafter, if not utilized. In addition, the Company had capital loss carryforwards
for both federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $42,000, which begin to expire in 2006, if not utilized. !

The: tax benefits associated with employee stock options provided cumulative deferred tax benefits of approximately $6,938
and $2,300 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Such deferred tax benefits have been offset by a
valuation allowance and will be credited to additional paid-in capital when realized. }

The utilization of the Company’s net operating loss may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the “change in ownership
prcvisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result
in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.

13. Employee Benefit Plans
De‘ined Contribution Plan

The: Company has a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the internal Revenue Code that covers substantially
all employees, Eligible employees may contribute amounts to the plan, via payroll withholding, subject to certain limitations.
The: Company does not match contributions by plan participants.

In w:onnection with the Company’s acquisition of Laser Link.net, Inc. (“Laser Link™) on March 20, 2000 and BlueStar (Notes| 4
antl 6), the Company merged Laser Link’s and BlueStar’s defined contribution retirement pian under Section 4o1(k} of the Interna
Revenue Code into the Company’s defined contribution retirement plan.

f
1908 Employee Stock Purchase Plan l
In)anuary 1999, the Company adopted the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under this plan, eligible employees could purcha%e
cornmon stock at 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first day of the applicab‘le
twenty-four month offering period or the last day of the applicable six month purchase period. The 1998 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan was terminated on April 28, 2003.

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2003, following the termination of the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the Company adopted the 2003 Employee
Stc ck Purchase Plan. Under this plan, eligible employees may purchase common stock at 85% of: {i) the fair market value lof
the Company’s common stock on the first day of the applicable twenty-four month offering period; or (ii) the fair market value
on the last day of the applicable six-month purchase period.

Stock Option Plans

The 1997 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the grant of stock purchase rights and options to purchase shares of common
stack to employees and consultants from time to time as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. The options expire
fro n two to eight years after the date of grant. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has reserved 14,895,194 shares of the
Coinpany’s common stock under the Plan for sale and issuance at prices to be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Laser Link, the Company assumed Laser Link’s stock option plan. Laser Link‘"s
stack option plan provides for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants from
tire to time. The options expire up to ten years after the date of grant. The Company assumed the Laser Link stock option plan
atthe time it acquired Laser Link and it is no longer issuing options under the Laser Link stock option plan. A maximum of 1,434,957
shares of the Company’s common stock will be available for issuance under the Laser Link Plan. The options granted under ﬂ’le
Lacer Link plan are included in the data set forth below. ‘

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of BlueStar, the Company assumed BlueStar's stock option plan. BlueStar’s stock
op!ion plan provides for the grant of options to purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants from time fo
tir e. The options expire up to ten years after the date of grant. The Company assumed the BlueStar stock option plan at the
time it acquired BlueStar and it is no longer issuing options under the BlueStar stock option plan. A maximum of 1,251,182 shares
of the Company’s common stock will be available for issuance under the BlueStar stock option plan. The options granted under
the BlueStar stock option plan are included in the data set forth below.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Number of Shares of Option Price
Common Stock Per Share
Balance as of December 31, 2000 27,734,375 $ o001 -$% 149.79
Granted 24,726,003 $ 0350 -$% 39.00
Exercised (4,100,977) $ o001 -% 2.56
Cancelled (16,759,071) $ o001 -$  149.79
Balance as of December 31, 2001 31,600,330 $ oot -%  149.79
Granted 2,231,048 $ o940 -3 2.30
Exercised (1,005,937) $ oo00r -% 2.56
Cancelled (7,150,427) $ o001 -% 149.79
Balance as of December 31, 2002 25,675,014 $ o001 -%  149.79
Granted 7,195,875 $ o570 -% 5.53
Exercised (4,984,279) $ o001 -% 5.44
Cancelled (6,209,845) $ 02906 -$% 149.79
Balance as of December 31, 2003 21,676,765 S o001 -% 149.79

The following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Number of Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Range Number of Shares Life Remaining Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
$ 0.001 -5 0.48 594,439 4.06 $ 0.28 429,847 $  0.23
$ 049 -% o056 2,987,310 5.70 $ 0.55 1,269,337 $ 055
$ o057 -% o.72 451,965 6.21 $ 0.68 199,946 $ o0.69
$ 078 -% 0384 2,356,825 5.48 5 0.84 1,415,761 $ 084
$ 08 -% 117 948,540 6.53 $ 1.05 309,610 $ 105
$ 1148 -% 128 4,954,980 7-57 S 1.28 1,428,203 % 128
$ 129 -% 256 2,081,123 5.60 $ 1.80 1,211,408 $ 186
$ 256 -% 256 2,499,601 5.22 $ 2.56 2,031,856 $ 256
$ 259 -% 27.75 2,357,460 5.05 $ 1077 1,608,614 $ 12,73
$27.83 -% 149.79 2,444,522 3.84 S 43.62 2,384,705 $  43.29
$ 0.001 -$ 149.79 21,676,765 5.76 S 7.09 12,289,287 $ 1102

In addition to the recognition and reversal of stock-based compensation described in Note 1 under “Basis of Presentation,”
during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company reversed approximately $136 and $1,213, respectively, of
stock-based compensation recorded in prior years due to the termination of certain employees (none in 2003). During the year
ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation of approximately $426, as a result of
employment status changes, stock option grants and restricted stock issuances with exercise or purchase prices that were less
than the fair value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant or issuance (none in 2003 or 2001). These amounts are
being amortized to operations over the respective vesting periods of the underlying options using a graded vesting method.
Amortization (reversal) of deferred stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was
approximately $1,344, $(3,358) and $1,597, respectively. Included in the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation
for the year ended December 31, 2001 is $302 relating to accelerated vesting provisions included in stock options granted to
certain employees in previous years. These accelerated vesting provisions were triggered by the resignation of such employees
during 2001. No similar amounts are included in the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation in 2003 and 2002.

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company extended the exercise period of options granted to certain
former employees for the purchase of 272,184 and 244,550 shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock. Consequently,
for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $221
and $253, respectively, which represents the difference between the exercise price of these options and the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the respective dates of the option award modifications. The Company did not modify any stock-
based awards in 2003.

The Company grants options to consultants from time to time in exchange for services. In general, these options vest over the
contractual period of the consulting arrangement. The Company granted options to consultants to purchase 347,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock in 2001. No options were granted to consultants in 2003 or 2002. The fair value of these options
is being amortized to expenses over the vesting term of the options. The Company recorded expenses of $120, $64 and $186
for the fair value of these options in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 the fair value
of the remaining unvested options granted to consultants was $22, $3 and $643, respectively. These charges are subject to
adjustment based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date the options vest.
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Pro Forma Stock-Based Compensation Information

Pro forma information regarding the results of operations and net income (loss) per share (Note 1) is determined as if the Company
hat accounted for its employee stock options using the fair value method. Under this method, the fair value of each opti
grated is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

3

The Company uses the intrinsic vaiue method in accounting for its employee stock options because, as discussed below, th
alte rnative fair value accounting requires the use of option valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employe
sto:k options. Under the intrinsic value method, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals 0
exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.

- M

Option valuation models were developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions
anc are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including
the expected life of the option. Because the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those
of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates, In
maiagement’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its
em loyee stock options.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of the Company’s stock-based awards to employees was
est mated using the following weighted average assumptions:

Stock Options Employee Stock Purchase Plan
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Expected life of options in years 4.0 4.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5
.. Volatility. 131.70% 152.10% 169.20% 131.70% 152.10% 169.20%
Ris <-free interest rate 2.10% 3.10% 4.09% 1.08% 1.72% 3.45%
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% o.oo%%

|
14. Business Segmenis 1
The: Company’s business segments are strategic business units that are managed based upon differences in customer
services and marketing channels, even though the assets and cash flows from these operations are not independent of ea
other. CSP focuses on delivering services to enterprise, corporate, small business, small office/home office (“SoHo™) and consum
customers primarily through wholesale relationships with large ISPs, telecommunications carriers and other large reseller
(BS focuses on small business and SoHo markets by selling services directly to end-users as well as through independent authorize
sal:s agents, small ISPs and resellers. All other business operations and activities of the Company are aggregated an
reported as Corporate Operations. These operations and activities are primarily comprised of general corporate functions

support the Company’s revenue producing segments as well as costs and expenses for headquarters facitities and equipmen
deprreciation and amortization, network capacity and other non-recurring or unusual items not directly attributable or allocate
to the segments, gains and losses on the Company’s investments, and income and expenses from the Company’s treasury ar
finiincing activities.

=
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The: accounting policies used in measuring segment assets and operating results are the same as those described in Notes 1
and 2. The Company evaluates the performance of, and allocates resources to, the segments based on segment net income or
loss, which excludes certain operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization, and all other income and expense
iteins, all of which are allocated to Corporate Operations. The Company does not atlocate such operating expenses and other
income and expense items to its business segments because it believes that these expenses and other income items are n%ot
diractly controlled by the business segments.

|
|
|
\
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Segment information, including a reconciliation to the respective balances in the Company’s consolidated financial statements,
as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, are as follows (the Company’s 2002 and 2001 segment information have been restated
to conform to the Company’s organizational structure in 2003):

Total  Corporate Intercompany  Consolidated
csp CBS Segments  Operations Eliminations Totat
As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2003:
Domestic revenues from unaffitiated
customers, net $ 236,928 $ 151,923 $ 388,851 $ - $ $ 388,851
Intersegment revenues - — — - —
Total revenues, net 236,928 151,923 388,851 - 388,851
Operating expenses 186,093 106,885 292,978 122,953 415,931
Depreciation and amortization — — - 56,559 56,559
Amortization of intangible assets - - - 17,325 17,325
Provision for restructuring expenses 103 349 452 783 1,235
Total operating expenses 186,196 107,234 293,430 197,620 491,050
Income (loss) from operations 50,732 44,689 95,421  (197,620) (102,199)
Interest income —_ - - 2,105 2,105
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates — — — (279) (279)
Interest expense — - - (5,526) (5,526)
Other income (expense), net — — — 5,968 5,968
Total other income (expense), net - — — 2,268 2,268
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 50732 5 44689 $ 95421 $(195352) $ $ (99.939)
Assets. . $ 4640 $ 23,432 $ 69,572 $ 265,139 $ $ 334,711
Capital expenditures for property
and-equipment - $ - % - % - % s41452 0% S a4142
Payment of collocation fees and purchase
of other intangible assets $ - % - % — % 1488 % $ 14,889
As of and for the year ended
December 31, 2002:
Domestic revenues from unaffiliated
customers, net $ 231,721 $ 151,775 $ 383,496 $ - % $ 383,496
Intersegment revenues — — — — -
Total revenues, net 231,721 151,775 383,496 - 383,496
Operating expenses 183,384 113,260 296,644 152,384 449,028
Depreciation and amortization - - - 112,438 112,438
Amortization of intangible assets - - - 14,650 14,650
Non-cash litigation-related expenses — — — (11,628) (11,628)
Total operating expenses 183,384 113,260 296,644 267,844 564,488
income (loss) from operations 48,337 38,515 86,852  (267,844) (180,992)
Interest income - - - 5,122 5,122
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates - - - (806) (806)
Interest expense — — — (5,581) (5,581)
Other income (expense), net - — — (2,571) (2,571
Total other income (expense), net - - - (3,836) (3,836)
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 48337 $ 38515 $ 86,852 $(271,680) §$ $ (184,828)
Assets $ 52173 $ 17,319 $ 69,492 $372,669 5 $ 442,61
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates:
Domestic $ - % - % - $ 1026 $ $ 1,026
Capital expenditures for property
and equipment $ - % - 8 — % 22,782 $ $ 22,782
Payment of collocation fees $ - % - % - % 3782 % $ 3782
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Total  Corporate  Intercompany Consolidated {

Ccsp CBS Segments Operations Eliminations Total |

As ol and for the year ended \‘

December 31, 2001: |

Domastic revenues from unaffiliated ‘
cLstomers, net $ 162,054 $ 170,542 $ 332,596 $ - $ — % 332,596
Intersegment revenues - - - - - -
Tctal revenues, net 162,054 170,542 332,596 - - 332,596
Opeiating expenses 206,807 210,586 417,393 243,732 - 661,125
Depieciation and amortization — -— - 137,920 - 137,920
Amortization of intangible assets - - - 12,919 - 12,919
Provision for restructuring expenses — - - 14,364 - 14,364
Provision for long-lived asset impairment — — - 11,988 - 11,988
Non-cash litigation-related expenses - — —~ 31,160 — 31,160
Tetal operating expenses 206,807 210,586 417,393 452,083 - 869,476
Loss from operations (44,753)  (40,044)  (84,797) (452,083) —  (536,880)
Interest income — — — 24,593 - 24,593
Equity in losses of unconsolidated affiliates - — - (13,769) - (13,769)‘
Interest expense - — - (92,782) — (92,782}
Other income {expense), net - - - (70,131) - (70,131
Gair on extinguishment of debt - — — 1,033,727 - 1,033,727
Total other income (expense), net - — — 881,638 — 881,638
N:T INCOME (LOSS) $ (44,753) $ (40,044) $ (84,797) $429,555  $ — 5 344,758

Capital expenditures for property

a1d equipment $ - 3 - % - % 15732 % - % 15732
Payinent of collocation fees $ - 3 - 3 - $ 7940 8 — % 7,940
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